
 
 

 
 
 
4 October 2019 
 
 
To: Councillors Benson, Blackburn, Brookes, Cain, Campbell, Jackson, Kirkland, Smith, 

I Taylor and L Williams  
 

The above members are requested to attend the:  
 

EXECUTIVE 
 

Monday, 14 October 2019 at 6.00 pm 
in Committee Room A, Town Hall, Blackpool 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

 Members are asked to declare any interests in the items under consideration and in 
doing so state:  
 
(1) the type of interest concerned either a 
 

(a) personal interest 
(b) prejudicial interest  
(c) disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) 

 
and 
 
(2) the nature of the interest concerned 
 
If any member requires advice on declarations of interests, they are advised to contact 
the Head of Democratic Governance in advance of the meeting. 

 
2  SCHOOL ORGANISATION PUPIL PLACE PLAN 2020-2028  (Pages 1 - 40) 

 
 To consider the School Organisation Pupil Place Plan for 2020 to 2028 and its  

recommendations for action. Once approved the strategy will form part of the 
Executive Policy Framework. 

 
3  DEVELOPMENT OF A SOFT PLAY CENTRE AND CAFÉ FACILITY AT BLACKPOOL SPORTS 

CENTRE  (Pages 41 - 52) 
 

Public Document Pack



 To consider a proposal to use Prudential Borrowing to develop a soft play centre and 
café facility within Blackpool Sports Centre, to complement the existing parks and 
leisure facilities. 

 
4  CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION FOR RAIKES HALL CONSERVATION AREA 

 (Pages 53 - 68) 
 

 To consider for approval the confirmation of a non-immediate Article 4 Direction Order 
for Raikes Hall Conservation Area. 

 
5  FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MONITORING AS AT MONTH 4 2019/20  (Pages 69 - 72) 

 
 To receive the financial performance monitoring for the period ending 31 July 2019.  

 

 

Venue information: 
 
First floor meeting room (lift available), accessible toilets (ground floor), no-smoking building. 
 

Other information: 
 

For queries regarding this agenda please contact Lennox Beattie, Executive and Regulatory 
Manager, Tel: (01253) 477157, e-mail lennox.beattie@blackpool.gov.uk 
 

Copies of agendas and minutes of Council and committee meetings are available on the 
Council’s website at www.blackpool.gov.uk. 

 

http://www.blackpool.gov.uk/


Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Diane Booth, Director of Children’s Services 

Relevant Cabinet Member  Councillor Kath Benson, Cabinet Member for Schools, 
Education and Aspiration 

Date of Meeting:  14 October 2019 

 

SCHOOL ORGANISATION PUPIL PLACE PLAN 2020-2028 
 

1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To present the School Organisation Pupil Place Plan for 2020 to 2028 and seek the 
approval of the recommendations for action. 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  
 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
2.3 

To approve the School Organisation Plan 2020-2028 for the period up to 31 August 
2028 and endorse the conclusions summarised at paragraphs 5.7. 
 
To agree that officers seek to work with primary schools and academy trusts to reduce 
the number of primary school places in Blackpool to achieve an optimal level of 
surplus capacity during the lifetime of this School Organisation Plan. 
 
To agree that officers seek to work with multi-academy trusts to identify 
opportunities to temporarily increase the number of secondary school places in 
Blackpool, should this be required, in order to ensure sufficient capacity for Blackpool 
pupils. 
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

The proposed course of action is recommended in order to fulfil the Council’s 
statutory responsibility to ensure there are enough school places for the young 
people who live in Blackpool, with enough capacity to allow parental choice and 
diversity. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by 
the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 
 

Yes 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



3.3 Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 The projected fall in the birth rate in coming years would mean that a “do nothing” 
approach would leave a significant surplus of primary pupil places in Blackpool.  While a 
certain level of surplus places is desirable to facilitate parental choice, such a level of excess 
could be detrimental to the financial feasibility of some schools. By taking a strategic, 
planned approach, the required reduction in places can hopefully be managed across a 
number of schools, thus avoiding the closure of any schools. 
 
With respect to secondary school places, a “do nothing” approach is likely to result in a 
situation whereby some Blackpool pupils would be left without a place at a secondary 
school.  
 

4.0  Council priority: 
 

4.1  The relevant Council priority is: “Communities: Creating stronger communities and 
increasing resilience”. 
 

5.0  Background information 
 

5.1  
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
 
 

Blackpool Council has a duty to ensure there are enough school places for the young people 
who live in Blackpool. There is also a duty to make sure these places are of good quality 
with enough capacity to allow parental choice and diversity. 
 
There are currently around 19,000 young people living in Blackpool who require 
compulsory education. 
 
Over recent years, Blackpool Council and the government have invested heavily in school 
buildings, with around £50m invested over the last five years. In Blackpool, there are 
currently 31 primary schools, six secondary schools, two all-through schools, three special 
schools and one Pupil Referral Unit. 
 
Since the introduction of the Academies Act 2010 and the Education Act 2011, Blackpool 
has seen a high percentage of schools becoming Academies, either through conversion or 
sponsorship.  While maintained schools continue to be managed by local authorities, the 
Department for Education monitors academies and free schools through the Regional 
Schools Commissioner. The Council’s duty to make sure there are enough school places 
applies across all types of school. 
 
The monitoring of the number of school places is a continual and complex process. Many 
factors can affect this, from changes in birth rate to the movement of people into and out 
of the town.  There is also a large number of new houses under development and planned 
within the town and in the surrounding areas of Wyre and Fylde over the coming years.   
 

Page 2



5.6 
 
 
 
 
5.7 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The latest pupil number projections indicate that a peak of pupils starting primary school in 
Reception will have been reached in September 2019. This peak will move through into the 
secondary sector, with the highest number of pupils in Year 7 anticipated in September 
2025. Beyond these dates, it is expected that numbers will gradually reduce. 
 
The conclusions and recommendations from the review of pupil places are as follows: 

 Primary sector: Enough places currently exist, but the forecast reduction in pupil 
numbers means that there are likely to be too many primary places, particularly in 
the south of the town. The local authority will therefore object to any requests to 
increase primary provision in the town. Primary schools have been invited to 
indicate if they could reduce their published admissions number, particularly in the 
south of the town. A reduction of numbers in three form entry schools would be 
preferred, but all options will be considered. If schools do not volunteer to reduce 
their Published Admissions Numbers, other solutions will be considered, including 
the possible closure of one or more schools 

 Secondary sector: There are currently insufficient Year 7 places in Blackpool schools 
for the number of pupils in each year at Blackpool primary schools. However, some 
parents choose to send their children to schools in Lancashire, and this means that 
there are enough places in Blackpool for the children that want them. Blackpool’s 
Year 7 numbers are likely to increase until 2025, and new houses are being built in 
the town and across the border. A shortage of Year 7 places may therefore be seen 
for one or more years, before numbers start to go down again. The local authority is 
therefore unlikely to agree to requests for permanent reductions in Published 
Admissions Numbers. Additional places may also be needed for Year 7 pupils for a 
short period of time. Any existing space in schools would be used initially, before 
building anything new. Secondary schools have been invited to indicate if they 
could manage a temporary increase in Year 7 admission numbers during the 
academic years 2023/24 to 2026/27, particularly in the north and central of the 
town. 

 Special sector:  The new Lotus School will allow 48 pupils with social, emotional and 
mental health needs to go to school in Blackpool rather than in other areas. The 
number of pupils going to the existing three special schools is continuing to grow. 
This is causing problems, both from the size of the buildings and also the funding 
available to pay for them. Work is underway with schools to see how more children 
with special educational needs and disabilities could attend a mainstream school. 
No recommendations are therefore currently being made for action to increase the 
size of the existing special schools. 

 
 
 
 

Page 3



5.8 The plan at Appendix 2a to the Executive report contains the full details of the review of 
school places. 

 
5.9 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 

 
No 

5.10 List of Appendices: 
 

 

 Appendix 2a: Blackpool Council School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 2020-2028 
 

6.0  Legal considerations: 
 

6.1  Under the Education Act 1996, local authorities have a statutory responsibility to 
ensure there are enough school places for the young people who live in their 
boundaries, with sufficient capacity to allow parental choice, diversity and fair access. 
 

7.0  Human resources considerations: 
 

7.1  None. 
 

8.0  Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1  The Education Act 1996 states that the local authority should exercise their duty with 
a view to securing diversity in the provision of schools, and increasing opportunities 
for parental choice. Any decisions concerning the reduction of primary school places 
or the temporary increase of secondary school places will therefore take into 
consideration any equalities matters, such as provision within faith schools. 

 
9.0  Financial considerations: 

 
9.1  Depending on the opportunities identified and the extent of the additional place 

requirement, there may be a need to use some Basic Need Capital Funding to support 
the creation of additional temporary secondary school places within a Blackpool 
academy. 
 

10.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1  Should the recommendations in this report not be approved, there is a risk that there 
could be an excessive number of primary school places, leading to some schools 
facing financial difficulties. There is a further risk that there would be insufficient 
secondary school places, leading to an inability for the local authority to meet its 
statutory duty, and some pupils being left without access to education. 
 
 

Page 4



11.0  Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1  None. 
 

12.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.2 

A consultation on the School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 2020-2028 was carried out 
between 20 June and 2 August 2019.  This was shared with all Blackpool schools, 
academies and multi-academy trusts, as well as with Lancashire County Council and 
the Department for Education.  No formal responses were received, but some 
comments were received from Lancashire County Council and a meeting to discuss 
the Plan took place with the Department for Education. 
 
Any school or academy wishing to change its Published Admission Number would be 
required to undertake public consultation in accordance with the School Admissions 
Code. 
 

13.0  Background papers: 
 

13.1  None. 
 

14.0 0 Key decision information: 
 

14.1  Is this a key decision? 
 

Yes 

14.2  If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

13/2019 

14.3  If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

14.4  If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

 Not applicable. 
 

15.0  Call-in information: 
 

15.1  Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 
exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

15.2  If yes, please give reason: 
 

 
 

Not applicable. 

 

 

Page 5



TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

16.0  Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: 4 October 2019 Date approved: 
 

      

17.0  Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

17.1        
 

18.0  Executive decision: 
 

18.1        
 

19.0  Date of Decision:    
 

19.1        
 

20.0  Reason(s) for decision: 
 

20.1        
 

21.0 1 Date Decision published: 
 

21.1        
 

22.0  Executive Members in attendance:   
 

22.1        

 
23.0  Call-in:   

 
23.1        

 
24.0  Notes:   

 
24.1        

 
 

Page 6



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 – 2028 
Issued October 2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 7

tsplseob
Typewritten Text
Appendix 2a 



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 2 of 34 
 

 
 

Contents 
 

 

About this Plan 
 

3 

 

Executive Summary 
 

4 

 

Introduction 
 

6 

 

Blackpool in Context 
 

7 

 

Links to Corporate Strategies and Plans 
 

9 

 

School Organisation Context 
 

10 

 

Existing School Provision in Blackpool 
 

12 

 

Strategic Capital Investment in Schools 
 

18 

 

Factors Affecting Demand for School Places and Pupil Projections 
 

19 

 

Forecasting Methodology 
 

21 

 

Future Forecasting 
 

26  

 

Proposals to Manage School Places 2020 - 2028 
 

32 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 3 of 34 
 

 

About this plan 
  
This plan explains Blackpool Council’s approach to School Organisation and Pupil Place Planning. It covers: 
 

 The Local Authority’s statutory responsibilities in ensuring there is sufficient provision of school places for young 

people within the borough; 

 The existing school provision within the borough; 

 Projected pupil place figures over the next several years; 

 The methodology for forecasting and factors that influence the model; 

 Recommendations for ensuring sufficient school places and the Local Authority’s strategic approach to 

managing the supply and demand for places over the life of this plan; 

 Statutory requirements and processes for making changes such as opening, closing, enlarging or reducing 

schools. 

 

This plan supersedes any previous plan issued that covered school organisation and pupil place planning. We will 

keep this plan under review and may update it in light of our engagement with strategic partners and key 

stakeholders. 

 

 

 

  

Page 9



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 4 of 34 
 

 
Executive Summary 
 
The Council has a statutory duty to ensure there are sufficient school places to accommodate the young people 

who reside in the borough and to ensure these places are of good quality with sufficient capacity to promote 

parental choice and diversity.  There are currently around 19,000 young people living within the borough for whom 

compulsory educational provision is required. 
 

Over recent years the Local Authority and relevant government bodies have invested heavily within the school 

estate, with circa £50m being invested over the past five year period. 

 

There are currently 31 primary schools, six secondary, two all-through, three special schools and one Pupil Referral 

Unit within the borough. There has been a significant change in legislation around the role of Local Authorities 

becoming commissioners of school places rather than providers.  This was further supported by the Academies Act 

2010 and the Education Act 2011. Blackpool has seen a significant move in this direction with a high percentage of 

Blackpool schools making the transition to becoming Academies, either via conversion or sponsorship.   

 

While maintained schools continue to be managed by local authorities, the responsibilities of academies and free 

schools are monitored by the Department for Education through the Regional Schools Commissioner. The duty of 

the local authority to ensure adequate provision of school places, however, applies across all types of school. 

 

The monitoring of the number of school places is a continual and complex process and one which can be 

affected by many factors from the fluctuations and trends in the birth rate to the migration and transience into 

and out of the town. 

 

There are also a significant number of new houses under development and planned within the town and in the 

surrounding boroughs of Wyre and Fylde over the coming years.  There are an estimated 3,200 new homes being 

delivered by 2026/27 within Blackpool as of April 2018, and substantial numbers across the border of Lancashire 

County Council being either under current construction or having reached significant planning milestones. 

 

In order to maintain sufficient quality and choice across the estate the Local Authority would typically ensure 

that there is at least 5% surplus capacity. During the academic year 2018/2019 there was a 6.8% surplus 

capacity within the primary sector and 12.7% surplus capacity within the secondary sector  compared to the 

Published Admissions Number. 

 

Blackpool’s previous School Organisation Plan covering the period 2015-2020 identified a shortfall of places in the 

secondary sector in the coming years, and reducing capacity in the primary sector.  The new Armfield Free School 

was proposed by Fylde Coast Academy Trust to address the shortfall.  The school is currently being developed by 

the Education, Skills and Funding Agency in the South planning area of the town, and partially opened in 

September 2018 with 160 Year 7 places, 60 Reception places, and nursery provision for 60 children.  

 

 

Page 10



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 5 of 34 
 

Our latest pupil number projections tell us that we reach a peak of pupils starting primary school in Reception in 

September 2019.  This peak will move through into the secondary sector, with the highest number of pupils in 

Year 7 anticipated in September 2025.  Beyond these dates, numbers are expected to gradually reduce. 

 

The conclusions and recommendations from the review of pupil places are as follows: 

 

- Primary sector:  sufficient places currently exist, however, the forecast reduction in pupils numbers means 

that there is likely to be an oversupply of primary places, particularly in the south planning area of the 

town.   The local authority will therefore object to any requests to increase primary provision in the town.  

During a consultation in summer 2019, primary schools were invited to express an interest if they would be 

in a position to reduce their Published Admissions Number, particularly in the south planning area of the 

town.  The local authority’s preference would be for a reduction of numbers in three-form entry schools, 

but all options will be considered.  Failing the voluntary reduction in Published Admissions Numbers, the 

local authority will consider alternative solutions, including the potential closure of one or more schools. 

 

- Secondary sector:  there are currently insufficient Year 7 places in Blackpool schools to accommodate the 

number of pupils in each year at Blackpool primary schools.  However, the continued availability of places in 

Lancashire secondary schools helps to mitigate against this shortfall.  Blackpool’s Year 7 numbers are 

predicted to continue to increase until 2025, and alongside significant housing growth across the border, 

there will be a potential shortfall in Year 7 places for one or more years, before numbers start to reduce.  

The shortfall could be more pronounced if plans for a more inclusive secondary sector result in fewer pupils 

attending special schools and the Pupil Referral Unit in future.  The local authority is therefore unlikely to 

agree to requests for permanent reductions in Published Admissions Numbers, and may require additional 

capacity for Year 7 intakes for a short period of time.  The Local Authority would first seek opportunities to 

unlock existing capacity within the school building estate, prior to creating new provision.  During the 

summer 2019 consultation, expressions of interest were invited from secondary schools who may be in a 

position to accommodate a temporary increase in Year 7 admission numbers during the academic years 

2023/24 to 2026/27, particularly in the north and central planning areas of the town. 

 

- Special sector:  the new Lotus School will enable 48 pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs 

to be educated locally rather than attending schools in other areas.  The growing pressure on places in the 

existing three special schools is unsustainable, both from the capacity of the building but also the available 

resources in the High Needs budget.  Work is underway within the school-led system to address the 

underlying causes of the increase in numbers, and opportunities will be pursued for increasing the capacity 

of mainstream schools to meet the needs of a greater number of pupils with special educational needs and 

disabilities.  No action is therefore currently recommended to further increase capacity within the schools, 

although this will be carefully monitored. 

 

The Authority will be working with relevant providers and stakeholders over the next 6-12 months to ensure the 

strategic approach to the delivery of sufficient school places adheres to current legislative requirements and 

guidance, whilst maintaining sustainable educational choice suitable for the young people of Blackpool. 

Page 11



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 6 of 34 
 

 

Introduction 
 

Blackpool Council has statutory responsibility for educational provision and outcomes for all Blackpool children and 

young people in state funded education, regardless of the status of the provider. The Council is keen to ensure that 

there are sufficient high quality places for all young people irrespective of the type of school parents wish to apply for. 

 

The Council has a statutory duty to ensure that sufficient school places are available within Blackpool for every child of 

school age, to promote diversity, parental choice and high educational standards, to ensure fair access to opportunity, 

and to help fulfil every child’s educational potential. 

 

There has been an increasing number of state funded Academies and Free schools since 2011. These are independent 

of Local Authority control and therefore school places are no longer provided solely by the Council. The Council 

therefore works with all providers to ensure that the need for school places is met.  

 

This plan will determine the current provision of school places and will show how the Local Authority predicts the 

provision and demand of places will change over the next few years and how the Council intends to manage these 

in the future. It brings together information from a range of different sources and sets out issues that the Council 

will face in meeting its statutory duties up to 2028 to meet the needs of the local population. 

 

The plan includes present and predicted future pupil numbers, together with information about population 

estimates, school capacity and new housing developments. The plan sets out the Council’s views on the 

sufficiency of places over the coming years, together with assumptions and risk factors, and suggests 

whether other changes may be necessary in the future. The plan also sets out our policies on school 

organisation and the statutory framework for making changes such as opening, closing, enlarging or 

reducing schools. 

 

  

Page 12



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 7 of 34 
 

 

Blackpool in Context 

Blackpool is England’s largest and most visited seaside resort attracting around 8.4 million adult visitors in 2017.1 It 

is the main retail, public administration, cultural and service centre for the Fylde Coast (Blackpool, Fylde and 

Wyre), supporting an estimated population of 329,200 and a workforce of around 153,800. 2 

The town was founded upon tourism and grew rapidly in the early 20th century leaving a legacy of high quality late 

Victorian architecture, including the iconic Blackpool Tower, piers and promenade. In the mid 1980’s Blackpool 

attracted around 17 million visitors each year, supported more than 100,000 holiday bed spaces and was the most 

popular holiday destination in the UK. 

Blackpool remains at the heart of the UK tourism and visitor economy, in part due to major investment in 

regeneration in recent years.  However, visitor numbers are significantly lower than they were until the 1980s, 

when fewer people travelled abroad on package holidays. Three decades of decline has had significant impact on 

the visitor economy, left a wake of low quality housing stock and challenges finding space for development. It has 

also created high levels of deprivation with many low paid or unemployed families. Like many coastal resorts, 

Blackpool now faces a series of significant social challenges that will require significant social investment to 

reverse. 

Blackpool’s Population 

Blackpool has a total population of around 139,870 people. 3 Currently, school age children (4-16) account for 

14.6% of the total population. From 2001 to 2017, Blackpool’s population fell by 1.7%. By 2027, the population is 

projected to reduce to 137,100, with reductions in 0-14, 25-39 and 50-59 age groups predicted.4 Some key factors 

affecting Blackpool’s population are: 

 Blackpool ranks as the most deprived authority in England, 5 based on both the average LSOA score and 

concentration of deprivation measures from the 2015 English Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). 

 Blackpool has a wide range of health, employment and housing issues. Including; having the 2nd lowest 

life expectancy amongst men and 4th lowest life expectancy amongst women in the UK,6 having the 5th 

highest proportion of workless households in the North West7 and for 2017/18 the number of dwelling 

stock in Blackpool only grew by 276 properties, below both the national and regional average.8 

                                                           
1 Blackpool 2017 Omnibus Visitor Annual Survey Report. Reported in: Tourism, Economy And Resources Scrutiny Committee 
(2018) https://democracy.blackpool.gov.uk/documents/s36486/ITEM%252010%2520-
%2520Tourism%2520Scrutiny%2520Report%2520-%2520June%25202018.pdf+&cd=7&hl=en&ct=clnk&gl=uk  
2 Working or available to work i.e. all people economically active (Blackpool, Fylde and Wyre) Nomis (2018) 
3 Population Estimates for UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland: Mid-2017, ONS (2018) 
4 2016-based subnational population projections for local authorities and higher administrative areas in England, ONS (2018) 
5 2015 English Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD), Communities and Local Government (2015) 
6 Life Expectancy at Birth and at Age 65 by Local Areas in England and Wales: 2015 to 2017, ONS (2018) 
7 Workless Households, Nomis (2018) 
8 Net additional dwellings by local authority district, England 2001-02 to 2017-18, Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government (2018) 

Page 13

https://democracy.blackpool.gov.uk/documents/s36486/ITEM%252010%2520-%2520Tourism%2520Scrutiny%2520Report%2520-%2520June%25202018.pdf+&cd=7&hl=en&ct=clnk&gl=uk
https://democracy.blackpool.gov.uk/documents/s36486/ITEM%252010%2520-%2520Tourism%2520Scrutiny%2520Report%2520-%2520June%25202018.pdf+&cd=7&hl=en&ct=clnk&gl=uk


School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 8 of 34 
 

 In 2015, 26.8% of all dependent children were living in families in economic poverty.9 

 As of December 2018, 12,000 families in Blackpool were receiving child or working tax credits.10  

 In the latest quarter up to May 2018, 1,213 children (17 and under) were in receipt of a disability living 

allowance payment, 4.2% of all children 17 and under, this is higher than the national average (3.5%) and 

North West (3.9%). 

 The health of children in Blackpool is poorer than the England average across a range of health indicators, 

including, the prevalence of obesity among children in Year 6, which is higher than the average in England 

and the North West.11 

 Blackpool has significant safeguarding needs, with the rates of looked after children in children under 18 

the highest in England, with there being 186 looked after children per 10,000 people (2018).12 

 

The social impact of economic and wider deprivation issues on educational outcomes can be significant, and 

provides a further justification to ensure excellence in school provision and planning across Blackpool.  While 

attainment of pupils in Blackpool’s primary schools is close to national averages, the performance of 

secondary-aged pupils falls short of expectations, as highlighted by the following statistics: 

 Children in Blackpool had the second lowest average Attainment 8 score per pupil in the North West in 

2017/1813 

 Compared with England, Blackpool has poorer GCSE attainment of a 9-4 ‘standard pass’ in English and 

Maths, with the percentage of pupils achieving this the second lowest in the North West14 

  

                                                           
9 Children's Strategic Needs Assessment 2015, http://www.blackpooljsna.org.uk 
10 Child and Working Tax Credits statistics: Provisional awards geographical analysis December 2018 (2019) 
11 NHS Digital, National Child Measurement Programme (2017/18) 
12 Children looked after at 31 March, by local authority, Department of Education (2018) 
13 Average Attainment 8 scores by local authority and region, Department of Education (2018) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/key-stage-4-and-multi-academy-trust-performance-2018-revised 
14 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/key-stage-4-and-multi-academy-trust-performance-2018-revised 

Page 14

http://www.blackpooljsna.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/key-stage-4-and-multi-academy-trust-performance-2018-revised
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/key-stage-4-and-multi-academy-trust-performance-2018-revised


School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 9 of 34 
 

Links to Corporate Strategies and Plans 
 
The School Organisation Plan plays a key role in Blackpool’s strategic planning, vision and objectives. The plan 

links to a number of policies across the Authority, but specifically has a direct connection with Blackpool’s 

Planning Policy Framework. Within this framework is the Blackpool Local Plan 2012-2027, which consists of two 

parts: 

 

 Part 1 is the Core Strategy, which is the key document in the Local Plan, while 

 

 Part 2 is the emerging Site Allocations and Development Management policies document. 

 

The Core Strategy sets out the Council’s spatial vision, which is underpinned by four goals supported by strategic 

objectives. 

 

There are a number of important links to the School Organisation Plan, which are set out below: 

 

Goal 1: Sustainable regeneration, diversification and growth 

 

Objective 5: Create well-designed places for people to enjoy with high quality buildings, streets and spaces, whilst 

conserving and enhancing Blackpool’s rich heritage and natural environment 

 

Goal 2: Strengthen community wellbeing to create sustainable communities and reduce inequalities in 

Blackpool’s most deprived areas 

 
Objective 12: Increase access to quality education facilities to improve educational achievement, skills and 

aspirations 

 

Goal 3: Regeneration of the town centre, resort core and inner areas to address economic, social and physical 

decline 

 

Objective 16: Establish balanced and stable communities in the inner areas with sustainable housing regeneration 

and new landmark residential development which improves housing quality and choice 

 

Goal 4: Supporting growth and enhancement in South Blackpool to meet future housing and employment needs for 

Blackpool and the Fylde Coast 

 

Objective 21: Secure the necessary infrastructure to enable new sustainable development which integrates with its 

surroundings, providing choice and convenient access to employment, services and community facilities 

 

  

Page 15



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 10 of 34 
 

 
School Organisation Context 
 
The Education and Inspections Act 2006 made significant changes to the way in which the provision for education 

was established and delivered nationally. The Act aimed to empower schools by devolving as much decision making 

to them as possible, whilst giving an enhanced strategic role to Local Authorities as champions of pupils and 

parents. 

 

The Act places a statutory duty on Local Authorities to act as commissioners of school places, rather than 

providers, to promote choice, diversity, high standards and the fulfilment of every child’s educational potential.  In 

carrying out this duty the Authority not only aims to ensure adequate provision but also seeks to ensure high 

quality education for all its pupils. 

 

In 2010 the introduction of the Academies Act enabled more schools to convert to Academies without the 

requirement of a sponsor. The Education Act 2011 expanded upon this programme to allow the establishment of 

16-19 Academies and alternative provision Academies.  The Act also authorised the creation of Free Schools, 

which allowed parents, teachers, charities and businesses to set up their own schools.  It changed the 

arrangements for establishing new schools and introduced section 6A (the ‘free school presumption’) of the 

Education and Inspections Act 2006, which requires that, where a local authority identifies the need for a new 

school in its area, it must seek proposals to establish an academy (free school).  

 

This legislation has made a further impact upon the role of the Local Authority as the strategic commissioner of 

school places, with Academies and Free Schools having responsibility for determining their own admission policy 

and arrangements and setting their own Published Admission Number (PAN) with the agreement of the Secretary 

of State. 

 
As Local Authority maintained schools, Free Schools and Academies all receive funding from the Government based 
on the total number of pupils and not the total number of places available, it is essential that the Authority plans 
the number of places to ensure a reasonable balance with pupil numbers.  The Local Authority seeks to provide 
sufficient and appropriate school facilities, balancing capacity and cost against the desire to comply with parental 
preference and the need to address contextual factors including pupil transience. 
 
 

Blackpool Council has facilitated significant change to the organisation and provision of school places within the 

borough. This has been achieved through the Council working together in a partnership with others including 

governing bodies, academy sponsors and head teachers. 

 

The capital funding to meet the demands of providing new pupil places to meet demographic need (known as 

Basic Need) is allocated to the Local Authority by the Department for Education for all state-funded schools within 

its area, including Academies. The funding is allocated according to the relative need for new places, based on 

forecast data provided by the Local Authority. 

 

In deciding where to use Basic Need funding to provide additional places, the Local Authority will consider both 

their maintained schools and local academies and Free Schools, taking into account where places will be of 

greatest benefit to their pupils, maintaining sufficient flexibility and places to satisfy parental preference. 

 

 

Page 16



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 11 of 34 
 

The Local Authority considers a number of factors when allocating Basic Need funding, for the development and 

alteration of a school; these factors include, but are not limited to: 
 

 Educational standards and school performance 

 The needs of the wider community 

 A response to parental preference and choice 

 Its socially inclusive agenda 

 The efficient and effective use of limited resources 

 The desirability for diversity and accessibility of provision 

 Its stewardship of public monies 

 Legislative requirements e.g. the infant class size limitation 

 The extent of the agreement of the need for change 
 

Successful schemes for the creation of additional places could include the construction of additional teaching 

areas, or even new schools where the identified shortage of places is sufficiently great. 

 

Alternative measures may include: 
 

 Increasing the admission over the Published Admission Number (PAN) where the school is deemed to 

have sufficient overall net capacity in its buildings; 

 Use of ‘bump classes’ where the school has surplus net capacity; 

 Use of temporary accommodation where the school is deemed to have sufficient grounds and 

external space. 

 

Where significant change is envisaged or planned then both the Local Authority and Academy Trust should ensure 

that they fulfil any statutory requirements, such as those, but not limited to, set out in the following: 

 

 Education and Inspections Act 2006 

 School Standards and Framework Act 1998 

 School Organisation (Prescribed Regulations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulation 2013 

 School Organisation, Maintained Schools, Guidance for Proposers and Decision Makers (January 2014) 

 Making Significant Changes to an Existing Academy (Departmental advice for academy trusts 

(January 2014) 

  The free school presumption – Departmental advice for local authorities and new school proposers 

(May 2018) 
 

  

Page 17



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 12 of 34 
 

Existing School Provision in Blackpool 
 
Blackpool has experienced some fluctuations in the demography of pupils in recent years, with demand for primary 
school places increasing, and this bulge now flowing through into secondary schools.  There have also been 
significant increases in pupils attending special schools, both within and outside of Blackpool, as well as at the Pupil 
Referral Unit.  The proportion of pupils in special schools and the Pupil Referral Unit is high when compared to 
other areas, and needs to be borne in mind when considering school place planning. 
 
The Local Authority currently has some 19,500 children on roll within schools across the town. The provision for 
these children is summarised in the table below: 
 

Number on Roll (including Academies and Free 

Schools) January 2019 Census 

Nursery 671 

Primary 11,779 

Secondary 6,173 

Sixth Form 148 

Special and alternative provision 664 

Total 19,435 

 

For pupils of compulsory school age, the breakdown by National Curriculum Year group is as follows: 

 

Year Group Total Number on Roll 

January 2019 Census 

 Year Group Total Number on Roll 

January 2019 Census 

Reception 1,719  Year 7 1,325 

Year 1 1,669  Year 8 1,149 

Year 2 1,706  Year 9 1,299 

Year 3 1,662  Year 10 1,271 

Year 4 1,706  Year 11 1,129 

Year 5 1,662  Total Secondary 6,173 

Year 6 1,655  

Total Primary 11,779  

 

 

The approach to the school organisation strategy for the borough is defined in three areas, North, Central and 

South, as illustrated in the figure overleaf. 

 

Page 18



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 13 of 34 
 

 

Page 19



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 14 of 34 
 

 

Primary School Provision (4-11 provision) 
 

Blackpool currently has 31 state sector primary schools, 16 of which are academies, one Free School, five Local 

Authority maintained schools, one voluntary controlled school, and eight voluntary aided schools. In many cases 

these schools include some level of nursery provision, either run by the school or via the private sector. 

 

There is a range of provision from one form to three forms of entry; however following a Primary Place Review 

in 2003 the Local Authority continues to maintain its preferred model of school organisation in Blackpool being 

predominantly that of one and two Forms of Entry. This means that schools are ideally organised so as to allow 

admission of one full form or two full forms of entry in any one year. This allows classes to be organised as 

multiples of 30 pupils per year group, which conforms to statutory class size requirements and it makes the most 

effective use of revenue resources. 
 
 

School Name 
Published 
Admission 

Number (PAN) 
Status 

Planning 
area 

Anchorsholme Primary Academy 90 Academy N 

Baines Endowed Church of England Academy 70 Academy S 

Bispham Endowed Church of England Primary School 60 Voluntary Controlled N 

Blackpool Gateway Academy 60 Academy C 

Boundary Primary School 60 LA Maintained C 

Christ the King Catholic Academy 30 Academy C 

Devonshire Primary Academy 60 Academy C 

Hawes Side Academy 90 Academy S 

Holy Family Catholic Primary School 30 Voluntary Aided C 

Kincraig Primary School 30 LA Maintained N 

Langdale Free School 18 Free School N 

Layton Primary School 90 LA Maintained C 

Marton Primary Academy 60 Academy S 

Mereside Primary School 60 Academy S 

Moor Park Primary School 60 LA Maintained N 

Norbreck Primary Academy 90 Academy N 

Our Lady of the Assumption Catholic Primary School 30 Voluntary Aided S 

Revoe Learning Academy 60 Academy C 

Roseacre Primary Academy 90 Academy S 

St Bernadette’s Catholic Primary School 30 Voluntary Aided N 

St Cuthbert’s Catholic Academy 30 Academy S 

Page 20



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 15 of 34 
 

School Name 
Published 
Admission 

Number (PAN) 
Status 

Planning 
area 

St John Vianney Catholic Primary School 60 Voluntary Aided C 

St John’s Church of England Primary School 30 Voluntary Aided C 

St Kentigerns Catholic Primary School 30 Voluntary Aided C 

St Nicholas’ Church of England Primary School 60 Voluntary Aided S 

St Teresa’s Catholic Primary School 30 Voluntary Aided N 

Stanley Primary School 90 LA Maintained C 

Thames Primary Academy 60 Academy S 

Waterloo Primary Academy 90 Academy C 

Westcliff Primary Academy 30 Academy N 

Westminster Primary Academy 60 Academy C 

Key: C = Central; N = North; S = South 
 

 

Secondary School Provision (11-16 provision) 
 

There are currently six secondary schools within the borough, all of which are academies. The most common form 

of curriculum delivery is 11-16 years of age, although there is one school (St Mary’s Catholic Academy) which 

houses a Sixth Form. 

 

School Name Published Admission 
Number (PAN) 

Status Planning 
area 

Blackpool Aspire Academy 180 Academy C 

Highfield Leadership Academy 240 Academy S 

Montgomery High School 250 Academy N 

South Shore Academy 175 Academy S 

St George’s High School 210 Academy S 

St Mary’s Catholic Academy 210 Academy C 

Key: C = Central; N = North; S = South 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 16 of 34 
 

All Through Provision (4-16 provision) 
 

There are two ‘All Through’ schools within the borough, which cater for children from 4-16 years of age. 
 

School Name Published Admission 
Number (PAN) 

Status Planning 
Area 

Armfield Academy 60 (primary) 

160 (secondary) 

Free School S 

Unity Academy Blackpool 60 (primary) 

120 (secondary) 

Academy N 

Key: C = Central; N = North; S = South 
  

16 – 18 Provision 
 

As previously mentioned, there is one Academy that currently has a Sixth Form, St Mary’s Catholic Academy. This 

facility is designed to cater for 115 students in each year group.  

 

The town also has Further Education provision at Blackpool Sixth Form College and Blackpool and the Fylde 

College. 
 

Pupil Referral Unit 
 
Educational Diversity is Blackpool’s Pupil Referral Unit, which is maintained by the Local Authority.  It provides 

educational provision for those children who do not have access to a school place, for example following 

permanent exclusion, or who are unable to access school for medical, emotional, behavioural or social reason. 

Educational Diversity operates from a number of units across the town, with a total of 250 places to be 

commissioned by the Local Authority in September 2019.  Plans are being progressed to reach a position where 

the vast majority of these pupils are dual registered with mainstream schools. 
 
Special Schools 
 
There are currently three special schools within the borough. The schools cater for a variety of special 

educational needs, and all three cater for pupils aged from 2 to 19 years old.  A fourth special school is under 

development, and further details can be found in the Capital Developments section of this report. 

 

All pupils attending special schools have an Education, Health and Care Plan. The decision about admission to a 

special school is based on clearly defined indicators. Each child is considered carefully according to their needs 

by a panel of experienced professionals. Parental views are taken into consideration. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 17 of 34 
 

 

School Name Specialism Commissioned 

places (Sep 2019) 

Status 

Highfurlong Physical disabilities; moderate and 
complex learning difficulties 

76 LA Maintained 

Park Moderate and complex learning 
difficulties 

290 Academy 

Woodlands Complex learning difficulties; profound 
and multiple learning difficulties 

110 LA Maintained 

 

Special Educational Resource Facilities – (SERF Provision) 
 

Within the borough there are also a number of SERF units, which cater for primary age pupils with emotional and 

behavioural needs, who remain dual registered with a mainstream school. The SERFs are located within existing 

schools as illustrated in the table below: 

 

School Name Commissioned 

places (Sep 2018) 

Status 

Bispham Endowed 8 Voluntary Controlled 

Boundary 16 LA Maintained 

Mereside 8 Academy 

 

Out of Borough Provision 
 

The Local Authority has a number of children who attend educational facilities outside of Blackpool due to 

specialists needs that cannot be met by local provision. There are typically around 70 places sought out of 

borough each year.  

 
  

Page 23



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 18 of 34 
 

Strategic Capital Investment in Schools 
 
Since the Local Government Re-organisation in 1997 a significant amount of investment has been made in 

Blackpool’s school provision.   

 

In 2010, Blackpool saw major investment under the Building Schools for the Future (BSF) programme with the 

substantial redevelopment in two of its secondary schools, Highfield Leadership Academy and St Mary’s Catholic 

Academy. This was followed by further investment under the governments Priority Schools Building Programme 

(PSBP) where Blackpool has seen four new (replacement) schools, since 2015.   

 

Within the primary sector, Hawes Side Academy was rebuilt and opened in September 2016.  In the secondary 

sector a brand new 900 place school on the site of the former Collegiate High School opened in November 2015. 

This facility brought together pupils from Collegiate and Bispham High Schools, following a merger of the two 

schools to form the new Aspire Academy in September 2014.  In the south of the town, South Shore Academy has 

also seen the replacement of its existing buildings with a completely new 875 place facility, which opened its 

doors to pupils in September 2017.  Finally, Highfurlong Special School benefited from a new school which 

opened in November 2015 adjacent to their existing site, and sharing some facilities with the new Aspire school. 

 

More recently, Woodlands special school has received a full refurbishment of existing buildings, with completion 

of all works achieved in September 2018, whilst Park Community Academy saw a new teaching block opened in 

2018, providing space to accommodate their recent increase in pupil numbers.  The two schools also saw the 

refurbishment of a new combined Sixth Form facility (Westbury Sixth Form Centre) in 2016. 

 

A proposal for the creation of a Free School by the Fylde Coast Academy Trust was approved by the Education and 

Skills Funding Agency, and the new facility is currently being developed by them on the site of the former 

independent Arnold School in the south planning area of the town.  The new school, Armfield Academy, is an 

all-through facility catering for 4-16 year olds, with nursery provision also on site.  The school opened in 

September 2018 with places for 60 Reception pupils and 160 Year 7 pupils.  Each phase will fill up one year group 

at a time, and all works are scheduled to be completed in time for the start of the 2019/20 academic year. 

 

Capital Developments 
 
Blackpool Council has recently been successful in an application to the Education and Skills Funding Agency for the 
establishment of a new special free school in the town.  The new school will accommodate 48 pupils aged between 
10 and 16, and will cater for pupils with Social, Emotional and Mental Health needs.  There is currently no provision 
in Blackpool for pupils with these needs, meaning that they are often transported to out-of-borough placements.  
The school will be called Lotus School, and will become part of the newly-established Champion Education Trust, 
along with Blackburn Central High School and Crosshill Special School.  The capital funding for the school is being 
provided by the Education and Skills Funding Agency, who have approved Blackpool Council’s proposal to 
self-deliver the construction project through the Local Education Partnership.  It is anticipated that the school will 
open to pupils from September 2020. 

The Council is investing in a capital project at the Pegasus site of Educational Diversity.  This will create four 

additional classrooms, enabling the school to move out of the Oracle building and co-locate pupils on the same 

site, delivering cost and operational efficiencies.  The new facility will open in September 2019. 

  

Page 24



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 19 of 34 
 

Factors Affecting Demand for School Places and Pupil Projections 
 
There are several factors that affect the size of the school population and pupil number forecasts. These factors 

include: 
 
 Birth Rate 
 

Through the analysis of the births registered in Blackpool over a number of years, patterns can be identified 

which support the planning of school places and the projection of need both at primary and secondary school 

level in Blackpool. 

 

 Office of National Statistics (ONS) population estimates 
 
The ONS produce regular estimates of the population of local authority areas, broken down by age.  These take 
into account birth rates and intelligence about inward and outward migration. 
 
 Pupil numbers 
 
This data is obtained each October from the School Census information. 
 
 Housing Development 

 
Housing developments can have a significant impact on both primary and secondary school forecasts as new 

families move into Blackpool and surrounding areas, or alternatively families move within the wider Blackpool area. 

 

 Migration / Transience 
 

Forecasting pupil numbers in Blackpool is a significant challenge as there is a high level of movement of pupils in 

and out of the town and between schools.  This factor has a significant impact on the total pupil population, 

seasonal variation in pupil populations and upon the ‘turnover’ of pupils within individual schools. 

 

 Cross Boundary Movement and Places in Neighbouring Local Authorities 
 

Many pupils attending Blackpool schools are not necessarily resident within Blackpool; similarly some children 

resident in the borough choose to attend non-Blackpool schools. Consequently an understanding of the trends 

evidenced by actual ‘take up’ rates is important in determining reliable pupil forecasts.  In recent years a significant 

number of Blackpool’s Year 6 pupils have moved to secondary provision in Lancashire secondary schools. However 

as the pressure on school places grows in Lancashire the capacity for those schools to accommodate Blackpool 

resident pupils is anticipated to reduce.  Depending on school admissions criteria, this is likely to result in a complex 

picture whereby the siblings of children already in non-Blackpool secondary schools may be able to gain admission, 

while other children may not. 

 

 Increase in Numbers of Pupils with Additional Needs 
 

Of the almost 19,500 children attending Blackpool schools, 3,957 are currently identified as having a special 

educational need.  This equates to 20.4 per cent of the total school population, compared to a national average of 

14.6 per cent. The three biggest primary areas of need in Blackpool are Speech, Language and Communication, 

Moderate Learning Difficulties and Social Emotional and Mental Health. There are a significant number of young 

people with Education, Health and Care plans placed in special provision in Blackpool; based on January 2019 

Page 25



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 20 of 34 
 

School Census data, 77 per cent of children of compulsory school age in a Blackpool school with a plan attend 

specialist provision compared to the national average of 49 per cent. 

 

Nationally, young children with additional needs are living longer, leading to an increased number of children with 
complex needs in schools. Blackpool is also a net importer of children with special educational needs, with a net 
gain of between 20 and 30 children with an existing Education, Health and Care plan moving into the town 
compared with those leaving each year. 
 
 Changes in Statutory Requirements 
 

Changes in legislation can also impact on school place planning, for example, the rights from 2014 of young people 

with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities to continue to receive educational provision until the age of 25, and the 

extension in 2015 to the age of 18 years for pupils to remain in education or employment with training. 

 

This Plan concentrates on Blackpool’s context in relation to population estimates, school capacities, proposed 

housing developments, and cross-boundary movement. Nevertheless, the Local Authority continues to engage 

with and address the wider issues which impact on school organisation in Blackpool, but which are present 

across the whole of the Fylde coast region. 

 
 
  

Page 26



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 21 of 34 
 

 

Forecasting Methodology 
 
In forecasting the future pupil place requirement for the borough, the following factors are taken into account: 

 

Birth Rates 

 

The birth rate figures and future birth rate estimates published by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) 

are in calendar years.  These are split into academic years using a 2/3 to 1/3 split to account for the fact 

that January-August births will start school in one academic year whereas September-December births 

will start school in the following academic year. 

 

A ‘transition percentage’ is then calculated each year between the number of academic year births and 

the number of pupils five years later in National Curriculum Year 0 (based on January School Census data).  

An average of the transition percentages for the previous 5 years is then applied to future academic year 

birth figures to predict future numbers on roll for National Curriculum Year 0. 

 
 

Population Estimates (ONS) 
 
The chart below shows the population estimates produced by the Office of National Statistics for school-age 

children to 2025. These figures are not used directly in the forecasting methodology but are used as a 

check to ensure that the trends in pupil numbers produced by the forecasting methodology match the 

trends from the ONS Population Estimates. 

 

 
Note - ONS Single Age Group Estimates have been transformed into Academic Years 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

ONS School-Age Population Estimates

Primary Secondary Total

Page 27



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 22 of 34 
 

 

The figures show that Blackpool’s population of primary aged children looks set to peak in 2019/20 

before reducing, with a gradual rise in the number of secondary aged pupils to a peak in 2026/27.   
 
Housing Growth 

 
With regards to future housing growth, the Local Authority’s Strategic Planning Team holds data in 

relation to approved development applications and future potential development sites, and identifies 

sites where it considers new housing will be delivered over the Local Plan period. 

 

Blackpool’s housing target for 2012 – 2027 reflects the assessed needs of the future population, the level of 

housing considered realistic to deliver in the borough (taking account of market signals, development 

viability and the availability of land) and the alignment of housing growth to economic prosperity. 

 

An integrated housing and economic strategy is particularly important for Blackpool to address a number of 

distinct challenges regarding its current housing market and the dynamics of its local economy, rooted in 

the town’s changing fortunes as a major UK seaside holiday resort. 

 

Provision will be made for the delivery of around 4,200 new homes in Blackpool between 2012 and 2027. 

This will equate to an average of 280 new homes per annum over the period of the Local Plan (2020 – 

2027). These new homes will be located on: 
 

■ Identified sites within the existing urban area, including major regeneration sites; 

■ Identified sites within the South Blackpool Growth area; and 

■ Windfall sites 
 

Identified sites within the existing urban area, including major regeneration sites, are expected to 

provide around 1,950 new homes in total (net). These include some sites identified in the Strategic 

Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) and comprise sites committed for development; 

vacant, underused or derelict land considered suitable for housing; and major regeneration sites 

within the inner areas, priority neighbourhoods and resort core, including the seafront. 

 

The major regeneration sites include two large housing developments being brought forward by the 

Council and its partners at Rigby Road and Queens Park, to provide a choice of quality new homes that 

will appeal to different households and encourage sustainable communities to form. The scale of 

intervention will encourage investment into the wider area to make these neighbourhoods more 

attractive places to live; and they illustrate the Council’s commitment to facilitating development in more 

challenging areas. 

 

Identified sites within the South Blackpool growth area are expected to provide around 600 new homes 

on the edge of the urban area close to the Blackpool- Fylde boundary. This will comprise around 400 

homes on land committed for development at Moss House Road; and around 150 homes at Whyndyke 

Farm in relation to land within the Blackpool boundary (the majority of this 1,000+ property site lies 

within the borough of Fylde). These two large developments present a real opportunity to improve the 

quality and choice of housing on the edge of Blackpool, linked to the development of wider lands in this 

area for major housing and employment growth. 

Page 28



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 23 of 34 
 

 

Windfall sites are sites which have not been specifically identified as available in the Local Plan process. 

They normally comprise previously developed sites that have unexpectedly become available. A windfall 

allowance of around 1,500 homes will be the final component of Blackpool’s housing supply; with the 

majority expected to come forward from conversions and bringing back long term empty properties into 

use15. 

 

Blackpool Council is currently reviewing its Methodology for Education Infrastructure Contributions 

document, which incorporates the basis of calculating the estimated number of pupils that will be 

‘yielded’ by new housing developments.  The new methodology is based on analysis from housing 

developments in the town in recent years.  The proposed pupil yield for each size of house is as set out 

in the table below: 

 

No of bedrooms Yield per 
Development - 
Primary 

Yield per 
Development - 
Secondary 

1 - - 

2 0.08 0.05 

3 0.21 0.16 

4 + 0.35 0.33 

 

This methodology produces an additional yield of 248 primary and 180 secondary pupils to be included into 

the pupil projections by 2026/27.  These numbers are over and above the typical rate of housing growth 

over recent years, as these will already be factored into the ONS’ birth estimates. 

 

It is imperative that the Local Authority uses its statutory powers to secure ‘developer contributions’ from 

housing developers where schemes have an impact on the education infrastructure within the borough, 

under Section 106 agreements of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 or the Community 

Infrastructure Levy. 

 

The Local Authority will seek contributions in the following circumstances: 

 

■ where places in Blackpool primary schools, within a 2 mile radius are already over-subscribed or 

predicted to be over-subscribed within a five year period; 

■ and / or where places in Blackpool secondary schools, within a 3 mile radius are already over- 

subscribed or predicted to be over-subscribed within a five year period. 

 

Where possible the contributions will be allocated to schools within a 3 mile radius of the development.  

In some instances however, it may not be possible to predetermine where the contributions will be 

allocated, as there are various statutory regulations16 placing requirements to consult with other 

interested parties before making decisions relating to alterations to Maintained and Non-maintained 

schools. 

 

                                                           
15 The School Organisation (Prescribed Alterations to Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2013; 
16 School Organisation Maintained Schools – Guidance for proposers and decision-makers January 2014 

Page 29



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 24 of 34 
 

The Local Authority is also aware that there are significant housing schemes currently being developed and 

proposed on the outskirts of the borough within the boroughs of Fylde and Wyre. More specifically these 

relate to the Whyndyke Farm Development, where approximately 1,400 homes are planned over the next 

10-15 year, the old Pontin’s site on Clifton Drive North where a further 429 homes are currently under 

consideration, and the Norcross Civil Service site in Thornton-Cleveleys. These developments have the 

potential to yield a further 650 primary pupils and 500 secondary pupils. 

 

It is believed that a significant number of pupils from these developments may apply for places at a 

Blackpool school, due to their proximity to local schools. However, the responsibility for providing a 

school place for sites within Lancashire will sit with Lancashire County Council. As stated previously, 

cross boundary movement already takes place and significant numbers of Blackpool children currently 

attend Lancashire schools. 

 

Cross-border migration 

 

Every year, there is migration into and out of neighbouring Lancashire County Council schools in the 

boroughs of Wyre and Fylde.   

 

Typically, for primary aged pupils, slightly more Lancashire pupils attend Blackpool schools than vice versa.  

However, when the number of pupils starting school in Reception is compared to birth rates, this inward 

migration is more than offset by migration out of Blackpool between birth and starting school, and pupils 

who attend special or independent schools. Because of the low primary net migration figures, no 

assumptions are therefore made about changes in the migration of primary pupils, although this will be 

kept under review in light of housing developments on the edge of the town. 

 

Until recently, there had been a sharp increase in the number of Blackpool secondary aged pupils attending 

Lancashire schools. The outward net migration of pupils from Blackpool primary schools to Lancashire 

secondary schools peaked at 23.5% in 2017/18 with a reduction to 18.5% in 2018/19.  There is a significant 

amount of housing development underway and planned on and near to the border. Lancashire predict 

rising secondary pupil numbers in Wyre and the Fylde, which will reduce place availability in these areas for 

Blackpool families. The pattern of parental preferences may also vary as place availability, relative school 

performance, and offer options change. Blackpool forecasts that for secondary places within its area the 

situation will be tight between September 2023 and September 2027. This is based on the PANs at its 

secondary academies remaining unchanged and offering 1,545 places.  Given these factors, the pupil 

planning model assumes that the percentage will continue to gradually reduce over the coming years, 

stabilising at a forecast net outward migration of 15% by 2023/24. 

 

The graph overleaf represents the actual and forecast percentage net migration of secondary and primary 

aged pupils from Blackpool to neighbouring Lancashire County Council schools.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 30



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 25 of 34 
 

 
Pupil Net Migration 

 

 
 
Notes: 
Year 0 figures show the percentage difference between ONS Birth Figures (split into academic years) and 
number of pupils five years later in National Curriculum Year 0  
Year 7 figures show the percentage difference between number of pupils in National Curriculum Year 6 and 
number of pupils one year later in National Curriculum Year 7 
 

 

 

 

  

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

Pupil Net Migration Figures (Actual and Forecast)

Year 0 Year 7

Page 31



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 26 of 34 
 

 

Future Forecasting  
 
The forecasts produced by using the methodology described on the previous pages are represented in the chart 

below. 

 
 

The year-on-year percentage changes are as below: 

 
 

The numbers in these charts differ from the ONS population estimates shown earlier in this document, 

predominantly as a result of migration to and from Lancashire schools and inclusion of anticipated housing growth 

above normal levels. 

 

 

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

Primary and Secondary Pupil Numbers (Actual and Forecast)

Primary Secondary Total

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

4%

Primary and Secondary Year-on-Year Change in Pupil 
Numbers (Actual and Forecast)

Primary Secondary Total

Page 32



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 27 of 34 
 

The forecast numbers are used to compare to the available capacity in Blackpool schools, as measured by the 

Published Admissions Numbers (PAN) for each school.  These numbers have been further analysed by reference to 

Blackpool’s three planning areas: North, Central and South. 

 

Primary places forecast  

 
The graphs below show the forecasted provision of primary places, as compared to predicted pupil numbers. It can 

be seen from the forecast that there will be a significant increase in the number of available places over the 

foreseeable future, with increases in all three planning areas.  Based on the assumptions in the model, the total 

number of spare primary places would exceed 1800 across the town by 2027/28. 

 

 
 
In percentage terms, the surplus capacity increases from 6.8% in 2018/19 to a predicted 14% by 2027/28, with the 

percentage of available places in the South area forecast to reach 16.7%. 

 

312
341 383 402 470 513 542 592 609 653 687 678 715

284
305 287

216 213
222 260 283 346

415 506 563 612

278 264 255 237 231
217 253 252 316

350 414 467 498

874 910 925 855 914 952
1055

1127
1271

1418

1607
1708

1825

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

Primary Surplus Places (Actual and Forecast)

South Central North Total

Page 33



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 28 of 34 
 

 
 

However, capacity cannot be considered solely at the overall level, as we need to be sure that there are sufficient 
places for each year group.  As a local authority, we need to ensure that we can fulfil our School Admissions 
responsibilities for admissions to school in Year Reception and Year 7.  The chart below shows the historic and 
forecast numbers of pupils in Year Reception. The peak of pupils in this year group was in academic year 2018/19, 
where there was 7.5% spare capacity.  However, numbers look set to decrease over the coming years, with a 
forecast of 1511 pupils in 2027/28 compared to 1858 available places, a difference of 347, or 18.7%. 

 

 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

Primary Surplus Places % (Actual and Forecast)

South Central North Total

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

Year 0 Pupil Numbers On Roll against PAN (Actual and Forecast)
Blackpool Total

NOR PAN

Page 34



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 29 of 34 
 

Secondary places forecast  
 
The graphs below show the forecasted provision of secondary places. It can be seen from the forecast that the 

number of spare places look set to stabilise at around 700 across the town by 2027/28. 

 

 
 
In percentage terms, the surplus capacity settles at around 7% by 2027/28, with the greatest number of spare 

places in the south school planning area. 

 

282
212

370

510

617

771 796
748

585

469
396 383 380354

244
328

222 152

106 117 101
126 172 132 131 133

82 102
167 163 147

135 139 121
91 74 35 32 33

718

558

865 895 916
1012

1053
970

802
715

562 546 546

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

Secondary Surplus Places (Actual and Forecast)

South Central North Total

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Secondary Surplus Places % (Actual and Forecast)

South Central North Total

Page 35



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 30 of 34 
 

As with the primary forecasts, capacity cannot be considered solely at the overall level, as we need to be sure that 
there are sufficient places for each year group.  The chart below shows the historic and forecast numbers of pupils 
in Year 7. The peak of pupils in this year group is predicted to arise in academic year 2025/26, where the forecast 
pupil number exactly matches the current PAN of 1545.  However, numbers are estimated to be very close to the 
PAN from 2023/24 through to 2026/27, so any variation in the forecast numbers could lead to a shortfall in 
available places in Blackpool.  The varying landscape across the three planning areas also needs to be taken into 
account, and the surplus capacity in the south planning area masks the tighter position in schools in the north and 
central areas. 

 

 
 

Special School Increase in Numbers 
 
The chart overleaf shows how numbers in the town’s three special schools were typically around 300 in total until 

2014/15.  Since this time, numbers have increased by more than 50% to 463 by 2018/19.  The figures include an 

increase of places in Park, which recently extended its age range from 4-16 to 2-19.  The demand for post-16 places 

at the school has exceeded expectations, and there are 34 pupils in Years 12 to 14 as at January 2019.   

 

The increase in special school numbers is due to a number of contributing factors: 

 A net movement of between 30 to 40 children with EHC Plans into the town each year. 

 A strong special school sector, with two schools having an outstanding Ofsted judgement, and one with a 

good judgement, which contrasts with a variable landscape in Blackpool’s secondary schools and impacts 

on parental preference. 

 The increase in the age range at Park Academy. 

 An increase in early years children with additional needs. 

 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

Year 7 Pupil Numbers On Roll against PAN (Actual and Forecast)
Blackpool Total

NOR PAN

Page 36



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 31 of 34 
 

 
 

The number of children with special educational needs placed out of area for education has increased from 101 in 

autumn 2015 to 138 in autumn 2018. 

 

Pupil Referral Unit Numbers 

 

Numbers of pupils attending Educational Diversity, the local authority’s Pupil Referral Unit, have been gradually 

reducing recently, following a period of increasing numbers.  The number of commissioned places will reduce from 

258 to 250 from September 2019, and there is a proposal to further decrease the number of local authority 

commissioned places to 150.  100 places would be available to be commissioned by schools in accordance with 

need on a dual registration basis, up to a maximum capacity of 250.  

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Special School Numbers on Roll

Highfurlong Park Woodlands Total

Page 37



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 32 of 34 
 

Proposals to Manage School Places 2020 – 2028 
 

There are many assumptions built into the pupil place model that will require close monitoring over the coming 
years, particularly in respect of the level of cross-border migration of pupils, and the delivery of housing growth, 
both in Blackpool and in neighbouring areas.  A further unknown factor is the potential impact of exiting from the 
European Union on Blackpool’s pupil population, given the increasing number of EU nationals taking up residence 
in the town over recent years.  Based on the pupil modelling and demographic projections described in this report, 
the conclusions and recommendations made by the Local Authority are as follows: 
 

 Primary School Provision 
 

Surplus capacity in primary schools reduced to approximately 6.8% across the borough in 2018/19. Previous 
recommendations have been to keep available capacity at around 5-8% to allow for parental preference.  
However, Reception Year pupils peaked in 2018/19, and due to the predicted decrease in primary pupil 
numbers, the surplus capacity is forecast to increase to 14% by 2027/28.  The spare capacity is more acute 
in the south planning area of the town, where it is estimated to reach 16.7%. 
 
As a result of the forecast oversupply of primary places, the local authority will object to any requests to 
increase primary provision in the town.  During a consultation with schools and stakeholders in 
summer 2019, expressions of interest were invited from primary schools who would be in a position to 
reduce their Published Admissions Number, particularly in the south planning area of the town.  The local 
authority’s preference would be for a reduction of numbers in three-form entry schools, but all options will 
be considered.  Failing the voluntary reduction in Published Admissions Numbers, the local authority will 
consider alternative solutions, including the potential closure of one or more schools. 

 

 Secondary School Provision 
 

Over the course of this Plan, surplus capacity in secondary schools is forecast to peak at approximately 14% 
in 2021/22.  Capacity reduces to just over 7% by 2027/28, however small year groups currently in the later 
years of school will be replaced by increasingly larger year groups, placing pressure on the Year 7 intake.   
 

There are currently 1545 Year 7 places available in the town at present levels of Published Admission 
Numbers, however, there are more than 1545 pupils in each of the primary year groups in the town.  The 
provision of places for Blackpool residents therefore relies on the continued availability of places in 
Lancashire schools.  As already described, the forecasts in this plan make assumptions about housing 
growth within Blackpool, and a reduction in cross-border migration.  With these assumptions, the Year 7 
numbers look set to peak at exactly 1545 in 2025/26 before beginning to reduce again.  This situation will 
require close monitoring over the coming years in order to understand whether action is required to 
address a potential shortfall.  The shortfall could be more pronounced if plans for a more inclusive 
secondary sector result in fewer pupils attending special schools and the Pupil Referral Unit in future. 
 

The Local Authority is therefore unlikely to agree to requests for permanent reductions in Published 
Admissions Numbers, and may require additional capacity for Year 7 intakes for a short period of time.  The 
local authority would first seek opportunities to unlock existing capacity within the school building estate, 
prior to creating new provision.  During the summer 2019 consultation, expressions of interest were invited 
from secondary schools who may be in a position to accommodate a temporary increase in Year 7 
admission numbers during the academic years 2023/24 to 2026/27, particularly in the north and central 
planning areas of the town.  

Page 38



School Organisation Pupil Place Plan 
2020 - 2028 

 

 Page 33 of 34 
 

 

 Special School Provision 
 

The new Lotus School will enable 48 pupils with social, emotional and mental health needs to be educated 

locally rather than attending schools in other areas.  The growing pressure on places in the existing three 

special schools is unsustainable, both from the capacity of the building but also the available resources in 

the High Needs budget.  Work is underway within the school-led system to address the underlying causes 

of the increase in numbers, and opportunities will be pursued for increasing the capacity of mainstream 

schools to meet the needs of a greater number of pupils with special educational needs and disabilities.  No 

action is therefore currently recommended to further increase capacity within the schools, although this 

will be carefully monitored. 

Page 39



 

 

 
 

Document Control 
 

Document owner: Diane Booth 

Document number:  

Document category:  

Document location: Q:/Finance and Funding/Children’s Services/School Place Planning/School 
Organisation Plan/ School Org Plan 2020-2028 

Issued by: Hilary Wood 

Last edited: 23/09/2019 
 

 
 

Record of amendments: 
 

Date Version Amended by  Description of changes 

02/08/2018 1.0 Hilary Wood Initial drafting 

21/08/2018 1.1 Hilary Wood Updates 

11/09/2018 1.2 Hilary Wood Updates 

16/04/2019 1.3 Hilary Wood Changed from 2018-2024 to 2020-2028 

29/04/2019 1.4 Hilary Wood Further updates 

26/05/2019 1.5 Hilary Wood Further updates 

18/06/2019 1.6 Hilary Wood Final changes before consultation 

20/06/2019 1.7 Hilary Wood Consultation version 

23/09/2019 1.8 Hilary Wood Final version 
 

 
 

Approved By: 
 

Name Title Signature Date 

Diane Booth Director of Children’s 

Services 

 23/09/2019 

    

    

 

Page 40



 

Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: John Blackledge, Director of Community and Environmental 
Services 

Relevant Cabinet Member:  Councillor Maria Kirkland, Community Cohesion and Leisure 

Date of Meeting:  14 October 2019 

 

DEVELOPMENT OF A SOFT PLAY CENTRE AND CAFÉ FACILITY AT 
BLACKPOOL SPORTS CENTRE 
 
1.0  
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1  
 

To seek permission for Prudential Borrowing to develop a soft play centre and café 
facility within Blackpool Sports Centre, to complement the existing parks and leisure 
facilities. 
 

2.0  Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1  
 
 
 
2.2 
 
2.3 

To agree the development of a large scale soft play facility and development of a café 
facility that will serve both soft play and leisure centre customers at Blackpool Sports 
Centre. 
 
To agree that the existing double sports hall to be reduced to a single sports hall. 
 
To agree that the works be funded by Prudential borrowing of £325,000 (in two 
segments one of £180,000 and one of £145,000 as outlined paragraph 9.2) to be 
repaid by the income generated by the redevelopment.  
 

3.0  Reasons for recommendation(s): 
 

3.1  
 

To develop the leisure offer within Blackpool Sports Centre, particularly targeting 
families with children under 8-years old and increase the level of income the facility 
generates, in order to support the future sustainability of the service. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or approved by 
the Council? 
 
 
 

No 

Page 41

Agenda Item 3



3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved budget? 
 

Yes 

3.3 Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 The alternative option is to do nothing and try and increase the use of the existing sports 
hall space.  However, there is a significant risk in this option as traditional usage of this 
space has declined and turning this round would be difficult as people’s leisure preferences 
have changed significantly in relation to sports hall usage. 
 

4.0  Council priority: 
 

4.1  The relevant Council priority is both:  

 “The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity across Blackpool” 

 “Communities: Creating stronger communities and increasing resilience” 
 

5.0  Background information 
 

5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Overview 
 
Blackpool Sports Centre is a large sports and leisure facility situated on the edge of 
Stanley Park, with a range of facilities including fitness suite, exercise class and indoor 
cycling studios, double sports hall, indoor running track and climbing walls within the 
facility.  In addition an athletics arena, 3G pitch, 8 netball courts and a sand-dressed 
all weather pitch are situated outside. The facility hosts a number of large-scale 
sporting events each year, which use both the indoor and outdoor facilities. 
 
The facility attracted 287,000 visits in 2017/18, however the number of large scale 
events and ongoing bookings that require the use of a double sports hall has reduced 
in recent years, resulting in under-utilised space, particularly during the daytime. 

 
Proposal 
 
Having explored a number of options to better utilise the double sports hall space to 
help generate greater community usage and benefit and increase the income 
generated and to attract a new audience to the facility, better utilising the space 
available, a soft play centre with café to serve the whole facility would be a feasible 
and exciting option. This would effectively reduce the ten badminton court sports hall 
to a five badminton court sports hall. 

 
Having carried out some site visits and benchmarking exercise as well as a competitor 
analysis, the development of a soft play centre would be a popular option, providing 
an all-year round play space for local families particularly given the location of the 
facility near the largest green space in Blackpool.   

 

Page 42



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Blackpool Sports Centre has found it challenging to attract a new market to its health 
and fitness activities and has seen significantly lower sales and overall membership 
than Moor Park Health and Leisure Centre. This has presented some financial 
challenges for the site. The proposal would attract a new audience to the facilities 
that would enable the service to cross-promote other activities available across the 
centres, including health and fitness memberships, children and young people’s 
activities and activities and events within the park. Furthermore it would provide a 
new income stream which would resolve the financial challenges the centre has faced 
over the previous three years. 

 
It is projected the soft play centre would attract in excess of 33,150 child entries per 
year. It is important that the soft play centre and café are developed hand in hand, in 
order for the projections within the business case to be achieved.  The development 
would provide additional employment opportunities for both play workers and 
catering staff. 
 
Financial Projections 
 
Based on similar schemes delivered elsewhere, the overall cost of the soft play 
installation is estimated to be £120,000, although subject to securing external 
funding, the budget allocated for the soft play equipment could be up to £150,000.  
Property Services have produced an overall cost estimate for the café development, 
including fit out which is estimated to be £205,000. Therefore the overall upfront 
capital cost of the project is estimated to be £325,000. 

 
Income projections for the soft play facility are based on the detailed modelling sheet 
at Appendix 3a, which outline the projected patronage during peak and off-peak 
operation and proposed fees and charges which relate to taking an average position in 
relation to the local competitor market.   

 
Income projections for the café facility are based on two income streams – income 
from the soft play customers and income from the general leisure centre customers.  
Income projections from the soft play custom is based on a £3.75 per family spend, 
based on estimated patronage figures of 33,150 per year. Soft play customers would 
usually spend between two and three hours in a soft play facility, therefore £3.75 per 
family is a conservative projection. 

 
Café income from the general leisure centre customers is based on half of the annual 
patronage (143,500) spending an average of £2.15 in the café. Again, this is a 
conservative projection as it is hoped that over 50% of leisure customers would utilise 
the café facilities. 

 
Both the soft play centre and café are subject to VAT which has been taken into 
consideration as part of the detailed projections. 

Page 43



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The tables below outline the key income and expenditure lines for both the café and 
soft play facilities: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Overall it is projected that the two facilities combined will generate an additional 
£47,880.   

 
The Blackpool Sports Centre health and fitness budget code was overspent by £69,000 
in 2018/19 due to challenging increases in income targets in recent years, therefore 
the additional income generated from this development will contribute towards 
rightsizing this budget line moving forward and as highlighted at 6.2.3 presents an 
opportunity to cross market and promote the health and fitness offer to the new 
market of users and again therefore increasing income further. 

 
Consideration will need to be given to the branding of the café, to ensure it appeals to 
a broad range of customers.  Furthermore, it would be beneficial to create a café 
brand that has the potential to be extended to other leisure facilities at a later date. 
 
Impact 
 
The loss of a double sports hall at Blackpool Sports Centre would have some impact 
on existing users. Some detailed work has been carried out to understand what 
activities and events could be moved elsewhere within the building or to another 
leisure centre and whilst there will be some impact on ongoing bookings, the service 
is confident that all bookings can be accommodated across the service.   
 
The double sports hall is used for a number of large sporting events each year, 
however it is believed that a large number of these can operate utilising a single 
sports hall and other areas of the indoor and outdoor space available on site. The 
service will however lose some events that require a double sports hall space. The 
estimated loss of income from the reduced space is £25,000 per year, which has been 
taken into consideration within the above projections.  

Financial Summary Annual 
Income 

Annual 
Expenditure 

Soft Play £112,856   £87,747 

Café £194,783  £110,228 

Prudential Borrowing build works    £26,172 

Prudential Borrowing soft play and 
fit out 

   £35,612 

Total  307,639   £259,759 

Projected Profit    £47,880 

Page 44



 
 

Three key clubs that utilise the double sports hall on a weekly basis are The Bears 
Multi-Sport Disability Club, Fylde Netball League and Blackpool Netball Club. The 
Bears could be accommodated within the remaining single sports hall, existing 
projectile hall space and Hall E, with opportunities to utilise the new 3G pitch and 
other indoor areas.  The remaining sports hall space would need to be re-lined, and 
the service will include boccia markings as part of the new permanent markings to 
support both The Bears and Blackpool Boccia Club. 
 
The Fylde Netball League has the option of utilising the 6 outdoor netball courts which 
were resurfaced two years ago, however from previous discussions this option is 
unlikely to be favoured by them due to the committee preferring indoor venues 
particularly during the winter months. 
 
Blackpool Netball Club has operated from Blackpool Sports Centre for a number of 
years and successfully develop and support players through to regional and national 
standard. The club are being consulted with as part of this process and while they 
have some concerns regarding the proposed changes, the club is working with the 
service to explore opportunities to deliver across both Blackpool Sports Centre and 
Palatine Leisure Centre, which will broaden their reach into the local community and 
allow more young people to attend club sessions. 

 
Further discussions with key groups and customers impacted by these changes will be 
undertaken once permission to progress with the above proposal is received.  
Consultation will also be carried out with parents and young children in partnership 
with BetterStart and the Children’s Centres to gain feedback on the soft play theme.  
Consultation will also be carried out with existing customers regarding the proposed 
café facility to gain insight and feedback on menu options. 
 

5.5 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

5.6 List of Appendices: 
 

 

 Appendix 3a – Detailed income/ expenditure projections. 
 

6.0  Legal considerations: 
 

6.1  None. 
 

7.0  Human resources considerations: 
 

7.1  The development will require the appointment of new staff for both the café and soft 
play facilities.   

Page 45



 
8.0  Equalities considerations: 

 
8.1  
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.2 
 
 
 
 
 
8.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.4 
 
 
 
 
8.5 

In the course of developing this proposal, officers have considered whether there 
could be unintended adverse impacts on people because of shared characteristics 
protected by the Equality Act. The Council believes the proposal will not have any 
discriminatory effects. Officers have identified clubs affected and have thought about 
ways to mitigate this and this has and will be done in full consultation with these 
clubs. 
 
The proposed changes impact on the space that will remain available for Blackpool 
Bears Multi Sport Disability Club. The club currently receives free use of the double 
sports hall every Saturday from 11.30am – 2.30pm providing a range of sporting 
activities including trampolining, boccia, football and rock climbing for 60 young 
people on a weekly basis. 
 

The Council’s Leisure Services team believe that the club can be accommodated by 
utilising the remaining space within the facilities, including the projectile hall. The club 
has agreed to take an open approach to considering alternative layouts and activities 
in order to find a workable model moving forward and are already trialling the use of 
alternative spaces to enable attendees to adapt to the change in space and to 
anticpate and operational issues that can be resolved prior to a permanent move. 
 
The soft play design would be developed with inclusivity in mind. The tender 
specification would include a specific question asking about design elements that are 
suitable for disabled users, which will contribute towards the overall score for each 
potential company. 
 
An Equality Analysis is being developed throughout the process of planning, agreeing 
and implementing the proposed scheme. 
 

9.0  Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 
 
9.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Both the soft play centre and café would be subject to VAT which has been taken into 
consideration as part of the detailed projections. 
 
The Prudential Borrowing will be split into two amounts - £180,000 to be borrowed 
over 10 years to cover the cost of the building works required and £145,000 over 5 
years to cover the cost of the soft play equipment and café fit-out. The soft play 
equipment and café furniture is expected to require a refresh and some replacement 
after five years, whereas the building work relating to this project is not likely to 
require substantial additional investment over the 10 year payback period. 
 
 

Page 46



9.3 The Prudential Borrowing cost would be funded through the income generated from 
the scheme. If the additional income is insufficient to cover this cost, the cost will be 
placed against the Leisure Services budget. 
 

10.0  Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1  There is a risk to the service and Council in investing in the proposed development 
should the income targets not be achieved, however this risk is small as a result of the 
benchmarking that has been carried out and the detailed business planning that has 
been completed.  The service believe there is a greater risk in not investing in the 
facility due to the age of the building and internal decoration which requires 
investment to retain existing customers and attract new footfall to the building. 
 

11.0  Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1  The proposal is in line with the Council’s ethical policy. 
 

12.0  Internal/external consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1  Consultation with the main groups affected has been undertaken as detailed within 
the report and if agreed further dialogue will take place. 
 

13.0  Background papers: 
 

13.1  None. 
 
14.0 0 Key decision information: 

 
14.1  Is this a key decision? 

 
Yes 

14.2  If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

24/2019 

14.3  If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

No 

14.4  If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
 
 

15.0  Call-in information: 
 

15.1  Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to be 
exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

Page 47



15.2  If yes, please give reason: 
 

 
 

 
 

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

16.0  Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: 4 October 2019  Date approved: 
 

      

17.0  Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

17.1        
 

18.0  Executive decision: 
 

18.1        
 

19.0  Date of Decision:    
 

19.1        
 

20.0  Reason(s) for decision: 
 

20.1        
 

21.0 1 Date Decision published: 
 

21.1        
 

22.0  Executive Members in attendance:   
 

22.1        
 

23.0  Call-in:   
 

23.1        
 

24.0  Notes:   
 

24.1        
 

 

Page 48



Appendix 3a Blackpool Sports Centre

Development of a Soft Play Centre and Cafe

Financial Summary

Financial Summary Annual Income Annual Expenditure

Soft Play 112,856.88£      87,747.30£                   

Café £         194, 783.33 110,228.50£                

Prudential borrowing build works 26,172.00£                   

Prudential borrowing soft play and fit out 35,612.00£                   

Total 307,640.21£      259,759.80£                

Projected Return 47,880.42£                  

Page 49



Appendix 3a Blackpool Sports Centre

Development of a Soft Play Facility

Revenue Projections

Patronage Annual

Age Cost Number Income 0-1 yr 2884

0-1 yr £0.00 5 £0.00 1-3yrs 12065

1-3yrs £3.25 25 £81.25 4yrs+ 15345

4yrs+ £3.95 10 £39.50 Parties 2856

£120.75 33150

Age Cost Number Income Income

0-1 yr £1.00 12 £12.00 Weekly Income term time £2,178

1-3yrs £3.75 45 £168.75 Weekly Income Holidays £4,391

4yrs+ £4.50 85 £382.50

Party of 14 £112.00 2 £224.00

Net Annual 

Income Forcast                                                                         
40 School Term Weeks & 11 

School Holiday Weeks (1 week 

closed)

£112,857

£787.25

Expenditure

hourly rate off peak days peak days

off peak staff 

hours/day 

peak staff 

hours/day

Staffing 13.81£          200 157 8.5 13.5 52,747.30£         

Cleaning & Maintenance 10,000.00£         

Loss of income (from sports hall bookings) 25,000.00£         

Total Expenditure 87,747.30£         

Projected Return £25,109.58

Total Income

Based on Average Prices

Weekday

Total Income

Based on Averagee Prices

Weekend and 

school holidays

P
age 50



Appendix 3a Blackpool Sports Centre

Development of a Cafe Facility

 Revenue Projections

Income no. of customers Spend per head Net income 52% profit margin

soft play customers 33150 3.75£                       103,593.75£  53,868.75£          

general customers 143000 2.15£                       256,208.33£  140,914.58£        

Total NET income 194,783.33£        

Staffing Expendture

operating hours hours/day hours/yr Cost

M-F 9.30am - 7.30pm 11                             1 staff 2,860                    27,272.00£     1.5 FTE £9.45/HR CATERING ASSISTANTS 27,272.00£  

sat/sun 9.30am - 5.30pm 9                               2 staff 1,872                    21,074.00£     1 FTE £10.9/HR CATERING MANAGER (Grade D) 21,074.00£  

holidays 55days/yr 5                               extra staff 275                        2,599.00£       275 casual hours/yr

overall staff cost 5,007                    66,228.50£     

Equipment maintenance 8,000.00£       

Cleaning materials 3,000.00£       

Specialist advice costs 5,000.00£       

Additional utilities 3,000.00£       

Loss of vending income 25,000.00£     

Total expenditure 110,228.50£  

Projected return 84,554.83£     

P
age 51



Appendix 3a Blackpool Sports Centre

Development of a Soft Play Centre and Cafe

Capital Costs

Capital Costs

Building works 180,000.00£  

Soft Play 120,000.00£  

Café equipment £ 18,000.00£    

Chairs softplay 70 35.00£     2,450.00£       

Tables softplay 16 50.00£     800.00£          

chairs café 36 50.00£     1,800.00£       

sofas café 4 200.00£  800.00£          

Tables café 16 50.00£     800.00£          

324,650.00£  

Page 52



 
 

Report to: EXECUTIVE 

Relevant Officer: Alan Cavill, Director of Communications and Regeneration  

Relevant Cabinet Member: Councillor Gillian Campbell, Deputy Leader (Place and Tourism) 

Date of Meeting:  14 October 2019 

 

CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION FOR RAIKES HALL 
CONSERVATION AREA 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 To seek approval, following consultation, for the confirmation of a non-immediate 
Article 4 Direction Order for Raikes Hall Conservation Area. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 
 
2.2 

To note the consultation responses attached at Appendix 4b.  
 
To approve the confirmation of a non-immediate Article 4 Direction Order for Raikes 
Hall Conservation Area with effect from 1 June 2020. 
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

In order to preserve the special character of the Raikes Hall Conservation Area 
 
It is considered that the legislative test is met in relation to the proposed direction under 
Articles 4 and 5 in relation to the Raikes Hall Conservation area having regard to the 
relevant Guidance and the National Planning Policy Framework.   
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 
 
 
 

Yes 

Page 53

Agenda Item 4



3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 Not to approve the confirmation of a non-immediate Article 4 Direction Order for Raikes 
Hall Conservation Area.  The notice of intention will subsequently lapse, and the provisions 
of the direction order will not be enforceable.   
 

4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is: “The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity 
across Blackpool”. 
 

5.0 Background Information 
 

5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
 
 

Raikes Hall Conservation Area was designated in February 2014.  A conservation area is 
an “area of special architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of 
which it is desirable to preserve or enhance”, as set out in Section 69 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.  Under this legislation, local 
authorities have a duty to designate such areas and to review them, and to use their 
planning powers to safeguard and enhance the special qualities of these areas within 
a framework of managing change with a positive approach. Designation 
automatically entails control over the demolition of unlisted buildings, strengthens 
controls over minor development and gives special protection to trees within the 
area.   
 
Raikes can be summarised as a good, well-preserved example of a largely early 20th 
century suburb with notable religious buildings, almost all of which are of good or 
very good architectural and historical quality. It is one of the best surviving areas of 
suburban housing in Blackpool and compares well with similar areas elsewhere in the 
country. 
 
Despite Conservation Area designation, there is still a range of minor works which 
would be allowed under permitted development rights.  The direction would allow 
the Council to control certain development visible from the highway which it 
considers would be prejudicial to the proper planning of the area and a threat to its 
amenity, so that any visual impact could be minimised by sensitive placement or 
alteration. This ensures that the conservation area’s essential character will be 
preserved. 
 
Executive approval was given on 15 December 2016, to serve notices for the introduction 
of a non-immediate Article 4 Direction.  This was done to pre-empt the risk of 
compensation claims arising from the introduction of an immediate Article 4 
Direction as potential liability is limited by allowing a minimum of twelve months 
between notification and confirmation of the direction order.   
 

Page 54



 
5.5 
 
 
 
 
 
5.6 

 
A total of 1,100 notices of intention to introduce a non-immediate article 4 direction were 
hand delivered to residents of the Raikes Hall Conservation Area on 19 May 2019 giving a 
period of notice from 23 May until 19 July 2019 to make representations.  The date of 
confirmation, if approved, will be 1 June 2020.  A copy of the order is attached at 
Appendix 4a. 
 
Eight representations were received, and a summary of the concerns raised are 
attached at Appendix 4b. Half of these concerned amenity issues which are beyond 
the scope of the direction. Four residents had misunderstood the measures being 
proposed; it was evident that the legal language in the direction order was a 
problem, and it is intended to simplify the wording for the notice of confirmation if 
possible. However, given the low proportion of representations, it is considered that 
the direction should now be confirmed on the date intended. 
 

5.7 Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

5.8 List of Appendices 
 

 

 Appendix 4a:  Copy of the direction order 
Appendix 4b:  Summary of representations 
Appendix 4c: Map of Raikes Hall Conservation Area  
 

6.0 Legal considerations: 
 

6.1 
 
 
 
 
6.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Article 4 directions are registrable as local land charges. Article 4 directions may be 
made when the Local Planning Authority is satisfied that it is expedient that 
development that would normally benefit from Permitted Development rights should 
not be carried out unless planning permission is granted.  
 
Regard should be had to the Department for Communities and Local Government’s 
Replacement Appendix D to the Department of the Environment Circular 9/95: 
General Development Consolidation Order 1995 issued in November 2010.  It 
contains a general statement that an Article 4 direction should be considered ‘only in 
those exceptional circumstances where the evidence suggests that the exercise of 
permitted development rights would harm local amenity or the proper planning of 
the area.’ The Guidance requires that the potential harm that the direction is 
intended to address must be clearly identified and where such withdrawal is 
proposed to cover a wide area there must be particularly strong justification for the 
withdrawal at the time of making the direction. It states further that local planning 
authorities may wish to consider whether the exercise of permitted development 
rights would undermine local objectives to create or maintain mixed communities. 
The immediacy of the threat and the compensation liability may be factors in 
determining which type of direction to use. 

Page 55



 
 
6.3 
 
 

 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework states that use of Article 4 directions should 
be limited to where it is necessary to protect local amenity or the wellbeing of the 
area 
 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 
 

There are no significant human resources consideration only the officer time only to 
deal with the paperwork.  
 

8.0 Equalities considerations: 
 

8.1 
 

Regard must be had to the provisions of the Equality Act 2010 and to the duty under 
section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998.  
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

There are no costs associated with the implementation of the article 4 direction  
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 The key risk is that of compensation, which is mitigated through the use of a (12 
Month) non-immediate order.  Compensations claims are exceptionally rare and are 
almost always a result of the implementation of orders that have immediate effect. 
 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1 
 
 

Regard must be had to the Human Rights Act 1998 in particular Article 8 (right to 
respect for private and family life) and Article 1 (protection of property). Any 
interference with the rights protected by the Act must be necessary and 
proportionate in the interests of a democratic society.  
 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

The Planning and Legal departments were consulted prior to the service of the 
notices of intention to introduce an article 4 direction.  Talbot Ward Police and 
Communities Together meetings were also presented to and both Ward Councillors 
have been supportive of this initiative.  A public consultation inviting representations 
concerning the direction was carried out between Thursday 23 May 2019 and Friday 
19 July 2019. 
 

13.0 Background Papers 
 

Page 56



13.1 
 
 

None. 
 

14.0 Key decision information: 
 

14.1 Is this a key decision? 
 

No 

14.2 If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

      

14.3 If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

N/A 

14.4 If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

  
15.0 Call-in information: 

 
15.1 Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to 

be exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

15.2 If yes, please give reason: 
 

  

 
TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 

 
16.0 Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 

 
 Date informed: N/A      Date approved: 

 
N/A 

17.0 Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

17.1  
 

18.0 Executive decision: 
 

18.1  
 

18.2 Date of Decision:    
 

  
19.0 Reason(s) for decision: 

 
  
19.1 Date Decision published: 

Page 57



 
  
20.0 Executive Members present:   

 
20.1  

 
21.0 Call-in:   

 
21.1  

 
22.0 Notes:   

 
22.1  
 

Page 58



Page 59

tsplseob_1
Typewritten Text
Appendix 4a



Page 60



Page 61



Page 62



Page 63



Page 64



Appendix 4b: RAIKES HALL CONSERVATION AREA – ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION 
 
REPRESENTATIONS RECEIVED DURING PUBLIC CONSULTATION 
 
 
Eight representations were received which can be broken down into the following areas of concern: 
 
 
Cost of using  Parking issues Cost of planning    Restrictions on energy efficiency/   Legal content   Small boundary  Amenity issues  Misunderstanding 
Traditional materials   permission    micro-generation measures    difficult to understand map   beyond scope of art 4 of restrictions 
 
 2   1  2   2   3            3   3   4 
 
 

Amenity issues included broken and patched pavements, weeds in alleyways, rented properties in poor repair and anti-social behaviour. 
 
Two people complained about street trees being removed and not replaced. P

age 65



T
his page is intentionally left blank



RIPO
N RO

AD

45

TCBs

10

1

76

50

50

105 103

1 to 15

38

Hotel

2

76

46

53

to

15

16

154

2

1

8

2a

1

116

4

100

PARK ROAD

18.6m

LO
N

G
TO

N
 R

O
A

D

114

3

El Sub Sta

16.2m

AVENUE

38

13

2

30a

1

AVENUE

12

260

8

BRYAN ROAD

8

141a

3

30
a

Ashleigh Mews

12
5

98

55

201

3

1 
to

 5

87

27

27 25

57

O
ld

 N
o  

4

32

2

81 79

13

R
oo m

s

1

TCB

13

272

Adelaide Court

21

80

1

3 0 32

22.3m

45

15

15
6

1 to 12

95

71

to

Club

332

21

LB

12

15

11
1

H
ot

el

235

TCB

43

5

33

4

32

112

15

Posts

62

37

2

14

16

120

2

14
8c

14

55
2

124

280

51

50

Bakery

13

28

1b

15

Sta

12.2m

36

12a

226

25

16

2

2

Didsbury Hotel

44

GROVE

92 90

4

CR

27

88

154 to 158

182

18 1 9

14.3m

13

33

292 to 306

36

18

The Fylde College

24

Synagogue

62

1a

35

11

60

11

64

19

37
b

31

SQUARE

2

TCB

1a

7

33

16

173 a

147

2

13

193

2a

44

35

272

31b

16

10
1

3

222

2

1

218 to 220

38

13

14

1 to 12

42

19

W
ard Bdy

1

35

46

LEAMINGTON ROAD

217

5

Fellowship

283

14.9m

Ward Bdy

1

1 to 12

219

13

118

31

90

3

40

7 5

11

212

28

27

13.4m

17.4m

82

27

1 to 39

86

LB

24

244

6

13

61

30

113

225

49

129

PA
R

K
 R

O
A

D

105a

49

28
64

53

150

24a

1

275

4

44

and

2

21

HARLEY ROAD

35

El Sub Sta

House

1b

5

36

18

2

24

33
ADELAIDE STREET

14

Shelter

Fire Station

26

14b

66

13.7m

21

1

57

28a

1

14

25

Courtfields

52

13

217

51

2a

31a

68

11

95

MARLBORO ROAD

14
8a

Winstone

65

5 4

2

2 54 a

10

48

to

42a

199

201

151

HORNBY ROAD

32

28

20.7

14

66

63

26

17

18.6m

42

76  78

84

177
2

25

125b

89

18.9m

5

52

Car Park

20

12

PALATINE ROAD

79

828
6

14.0m

179

80

90

3

37

BUCHANAN STREET

D
U

R
H

A
M

 R
O

A D

140

27

56 167

Willow

2a

4

54

1 0

1

FS

Priory Court

23.8m

141

11
3

READ'S AVENUE

72a
42

27

27
3

17

1a

AVEN
UE

St Kentigern's

37

214

14

2

97

All  S
aints'

19.8m

60

11

1

103

54

2

50

2

171

65

70

18.6m

76

64

114

252

21.0m

112

R
O

A
D

1

15

14

69

1c

1a

Centre

8

Ki ngsl ey

143

19

12

2

74

Tower

2

13
3

40

Goodwood

168

30

4

16
4

11
3

Belle Vue Place

1a

GROSVENOR STREET

39

Shelter

RIDG
W

O
O

D AVENUE

2

36

22

Court

13

1

MERE ROAD

9

15.5m

FOREST GATE

260

39

18.9m

R
aikes

26
8

26

2 5

2

Shelter

84

Sunday School

82

9

4

W
ar

d 
Bd

y

1

60

44

94

ELIZABETH STREET

27

17

308

52a

89

60

30

47

106

51

80

13

23.8

38

28

8

170

21

5

26
9a

2 a

36

27

FLEET STREET

57

9

KENSINGTON ROAD

1

8

GAINSBOROUGH ROAD

St Kentigern 's

59

14

8

Lodge

289

14

43

88

7

36

96

35

R
EG

EN
T R

O
AD

4

3

D
E VO

N
SH

IR
E R

O
A

D

79
a

236

30

Catholic Prim
ary Schoo l

48

27

Nursery

144

16.5m

W
a rehou se

15c

13.7m

25

114

20

47

College Court

15

BEECH

46

Central Reads

22.9m

56

41

12

31

MERE

1

60

15.2m

26

10

316 a

3

39

39

72

Cottage

185

53

14

NEWTON

25a

50

33

7

76

258

4

126

43

DEVONSHIRE

Church & Hall

2

Woodland

FELG
ATE

1 5

242

42

73 75

9

1 to 11

149

Lawn

342b

69

M
A

N
C

H
ESTER

 R
O

A
D

13

93

20

27

Ward Bdy

15

199

20

4

25 23

2a

20.7m

3

32

38

NEWTON DRIVE

3

15

117

44

22

M
O

NTREAL AVENUE

51

222Garage

12

Dutton

12

TCB

Vue

R
E

G
E

N
T R

O
A

D
 EA

ST

CAUNCE STREET

9

9

41

17

Meeting

15

26

250

39

134

A
SC

O
T

Devonshire Square Mews

1

21

CHURCH STREET

264

HORNBY ROAD

17.7m

69

12

12

24

52

6

89

2

Posts

Parish Hall

20.4m

18

54

NEWCASTLE AVENUE

2a

96 t o 1 06

an
d

14.0m

233

16
 18

15

1

23

2

47

93

Park Court

1

23

141

14

4

74a

15

50

246 to 250

29

D
U

TTO
N

 R
O

AD

16

43

11

54

TCBs

30

35

65

64

14

310

127

213

11
3

29

PO

41a

70

22

APPLE TR
EE GA

RDENS

49

38

O
ffices

57

193

HOLLYWOOD A

LO
N

D
O

N
 R

O
AD

14

3 5

Court

The Eagle

32

W
EST PARK D

RIVE

131

PORTLAND ROAD

18

45

14 to 31

7a

8

29

12

16

68

16

7

Shelter

24

El Sub Sta

21

46

14

1

63

19

15

1 3

26

27 7

ROAD

SA Citadel

25
21

1

179

GORSE ROAD

DANESBURY PLACE

55

Hall

3

26

74

81

ESS

45

House

Presbytery

43

74
76

The Fylde C
o llege

171

37

Blackpool and

57

42

173

10

27
1

Old No 3 and

23

48

37

187

BENNETT AVENUE

15.5m

50

South

231

52

Post

Children's

31

50

LB

19

170

2

a 3

34 36

4

Works

39

54

15

48

193

G
oo

dw
oo

d 
Pl

ac
e

22.9m

16

39

348

18

35

46

312

234

11
a

Christian

Shelter

8

Hornby

227-229

85 87

2

6

53

26

106 to 110

1

CR

1

14

29

7

52

2

25

150

224a

4 6 4 8

4 3

30

2

45

12

38

Car Park

24

146

197

270

LIN
C

O
LN

 R
O

AD

15

41

63

7

31c

4

45

10

30

62

Sub Sta

27
1a

Court

6 
to

 1
0

1

25

21

66

49

27

229

68

64

10

35

23

112a

26 to 28

27

28

1

2

38

32

33

37

TCB

31
 29

11

50

45

12
7

6

23

37

78

Blackpool and

42

5

42

17

3

29a

21

14 to 16

14
8b

2

1  
to

 5

1

76

1

1 to 21

87
 to

 9
5

4 
to

 6

8

17

97

2a

C
O

LL
IN

G
W

O
O

D
 A

VE
N

U
E

15

Lodge

26
9

G
LENW

O
O

D STREET

Parish

37

11

99

8

26

RC Church

186

98 100

7

46

TCB

21

82

81

2

146

313

Childrens

9

41

C
A

M
B

R
ID

G
E RO

A
D

11

14

2

48

1

3

91

174

29

342

PO
PLAR

 A
VENU

E

64

87 to 83

3

91

6 8

1

177a

13

1

2

GRANVILLE ROAD

213

Car Park

2

72

23a

1

29

15

37

2a

1 2

56

9

26a

5

Resource

12

36

124

47

112

Hotel

87

100

M
YRTLE AVENU

E

19

4

13

1

Shel ter

52 54

BRO
W

114

69

2

65

29

Burnham Court

MILBOURNE STREET

110

39

42

13.4m

MANOR ROAD

91
a 

to
 9

1f

20

31

10

276

2a

23

19.5m

24

38

10

76

24.7m

312a

5

8

41

30

20.4m

anley Buildings

17.4m

7

6

RIDLEY STREET

14

62

13

34

128

LILY STREET

65 to 69

143

1a

11

96

11

120

44

45
a

22

14

42

59

49

House

37a

1 to 6

1

17

88

32

138

241

138

62

13

LYCEUM
 A

VEN
UE

16

49

84

80

133

68

Lincoln

191

71

15

21.9m

16.8m

262

256

5

10

A
m

bulance

1 to 9

13

3 9

2

56

22

2

2

R
EG

EN
T R

O
AD

143

Home

BACK READ'S ROAD

W
H

ITEG
A

TE DR
IVE

314

28

13

20

318

25 2

R
E

G
E

N
T  R

O
A

D
 EA

ST

63

50

15

6

(P H
)

54

126

41

153

1

ST ALBAN'S ROAD

12

25

(Car Park)

22

12

2

2

1 to 6

Shelter

26

58

El Sub

43

37

22

31 a

1

52

194

121

1

163

34

W
ard Bdy

2a

48

78

1

41

79

1

24

43b

2

LEI C
ESTER

 R O
AD

47

21

40

189

2

15.2m

49

1c

38

38

105

20

28

334

23

45

43

17

1

36

38

Home

39

42

(PH)

49

LB

38

(P
H

)

2 8
9 a

Church

1

28

109a

LEEDS ROAD

38

W
ESTW

O
O

D AVEN
UE

7

66a

14

40

33

24b

28

266

20 O
LIVE

Belle

19

19.5m

1

215

41

11a

Hillcrest

45

344

9

Congregational

60

16

30

2

Garage

23

1

64

310a

46

77

200

196

224

15.5m

51

12.2m
C

R

2

47

206

52

84

Red Cross House

159

66

12a

40

M
ew

s

21

12

254

Shelter

29
0

11a

18.0m

14

3

20.4m

LB

23.2m

8

2

40

47

Shelter

12

53

11

136

29

El Sub Sta

R
A

I K
ES PA

R
AD

E

103

173

281

11

1

21.3m

37

11

19

23.2m

9

ELM

14.9m

48

47

15

54

15

Grizedale Court

48

31

64

72

25

17.1m

Car Park

64

18

38

28

ROAD

6

CHURCH STREET

177

12.5m

1

Shelter

13

Bowling Green

6

87

33

El

1

88

139 137

282

3

4

TYNE A
VENUE

37

124

10

43

80

Thornham Court

45a

125a

67

4
303

83

104

25

153

2

CHARLES STREET

LEAMINGTON

70

4

W
H

ITLEY AVEN
UE

21.6 m

43

a to m

St John's Court

3

Tree

7

El Sub Sta

33

42

42

2

43

16

40

15

W
H

ITEG
A

TE
 D

R
IVE

1a

119

1b

54

9a

64

46

73

E l Sub S ta

28

20

1 
to

 1
2

BRECK ROAD

LEVER
 STR

EET

12

1

111

Victoria

PETER STREET
31

2

158

136

20.1m

29

48

245

262

Fr
ee

m
as

on
s '

2

1

Surgery

232

Blackpool

O
X FO

R
D

 R
O

A D

Court

130

M
A

PLE AVENUE

97

24

316

33

83

84

101 99

35

HAZEL

135

17

READ'S AVENUE

22

PW

Raikes Hall

G
R

O
VE

2 3

162

144
10

9

257

16.5m

10

30
b

56

16

28

TCB

164 166

26

1

19

RIDGWOOD

36
4 2

Club

43

PA
R K

ER
 STR

EET

95

165

98

63

1

18.9m
4

26

49

51

130

39

Bank
1

78a

108

13

17

20

52

ROAD

to

Posts

LIVERPO
O

L RO
AD

16.2m

1

23

87 89

100

12

54

58

W
ESTW

O
OD A

VEN
UE

23

13.4m

33

136

72

79

41

Church
15

45a

BARLOW

291

49

14

58

Posts

24

NEWCASTLE AVENUE

North

60

4

48

2

11

40
a

106

52

25.0m

27
3a

98a

160

25

FOREST GATE

El Sub Sta

26

67

51

C
R

ESC
EN

T

14a

4

99

33

47

210

22

68

198

24c

SON STREET

59

26

8

11

21.0m

17

79

69

7

24

DRIVE

The

Club

89

1

26

254

162

96

(PH)

1

16

Post

90

25

House

287

98a

15.5m

37a

4

97

175

29

109

7

14

14

40

21.6m

55

Centre

342a

14

10
5

4

1

13

3

27

2 1

38

44

16

1

248

18

205

93

56

25a

Community

LB

31

Date:  03/09/2018  |  Scale:  1:4000 @ A4  |  Printed by:  DA

Raikes Conservation Area

Key

Conservation Areas
Raikes Conservation Area

Listed Buildings
Listed & Locally Listed Building

© Crown copyright and database rights 2018. Ordnance Survey Blackpool Borough Council Licence No.100019178. Use of this data is subject to terms and conditions.

P
age 67

tsplseob_2
Text Box
Appendix 4c 



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Report to: EXECUTIVE 
 

Relevant Officer: Steve Thompson, Director of Resources 

Relevant Cabinet Member: Councillor Simon Blackburn, Leader of the Council 

Date of Meeting: 14 October 2019 

 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MONITORING AS AT MONTH 4 2019/20 
 

1.0 
 

Purpose of the report: 
 

1.1 The level of spending against the Council’s Revenue and Capital budgets for the first 
4 months to 31 July 2019. 
 

2.0 Recommendation(s): 
 

2.1 
 
2.2 
 
 
 
 
 
2.3 
 
 
 

To note the report.    
 
To continue to lobby Government (HM Treasury, Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government and the Department for Education in particular) along with 
local authority peers, the Local Government Association and the Association of 
Directors of Children’s Services for significantly more funding to cope with the 
soaring demand and new burdens presenting in Children’s Services. 
 
To require the respective directors and Director of Resources to continue to closely 
monitor and manage service financial and operational performances, specifically 
Children’s Services but also Strategic Leisure Assets, Parking Services and 
Concessionary Fares, and to ensure the release of at least £1m of budgets across all 
directorates as a consequence of a 1-year freeze on non-essential spend. 
 

2.4 To release £1m of Earmarked Revenue Reserves to compensate for the deficit on 
Working Balances of £971,000. 
 

3.0 
 

Reasons for recommendation(s): 

3.1 
 

To ensure financial performance against the Council’s Revenue and Capital Budget is 
kept under review by members. 
 

3.2a Is the recommendation contrary to a plan or strategy adopted or 
approved by the Council? 
 

No 

Page 69

Agenda Item 5



3.2b Is the recommendation in accordance with the Council’s approved 
budget? 
 

Yes 

3.3 
 

Other alternative options to be considered: 
 

 None. 
 

4.0 Council Priority: 
 

4.1 The relevant Council Priority is: 
 
“The economy: Maximising growth and opportunity across Blackpool” 
 

5.0 Background Information 
 

5.1 
 

See reports and appendices circulated to members under separate cover. 
 

5.2 
 
 

Does the information submitted include any exempt information? 
 

No 

5.3 List of Appendices:  
 Report 

Appendix 1 - Revenue Summary 
Appendix 2 - Schedule of Service forecast overspendings 
Appendix 3a - Chief Executive 
Appendix 3b - Governance and Partnership Services 
Appendices 3b/c - Ward Budgets 
Appendix 3d - Resources 
Appendix 3e – Communications and Regeneration 
Appendix 3f - Strategic Leisure Assets 
Appendix 3g – Growth & Prosperity 
Appendix 3h - Community and Environmental Services 
Appendix 3i - Adult Services 
Appendix 3j - Children’s Services 
Appendix 3k - Public Health 
Appendix 3l - Budgets Outside the Cash Limit 
Appendix 4 - Capital Monitoring  
Appendix 5 - Cash Flow Summary 
Appendix 6 - General Fund Balance Sheet Summary  
 
All circulated to members under separate cover 
 
 
 

 

Page 70



6.0 Legal considerations: 
 

6.1 
 

None. 
 

7.0 Human Resources considerations: 
 

7.1 See reports and appendices circulated to members under separate cover. 
 
8.0 Equalities considerations: 

 
8.1 
 

An Equalities Impact Assessment was produced as a part of the budget setting 
process and remains relevant. 
 

9.0 Financial considerations: 
 

9.1 
 

See reports and appendices circulated to members under separate cover. 
 

10.0 Risk management considerations: 
 

10.1 Impact of financial performance on Council balances. Financial performance against 
approved Revenue and Capital budgets. 
 

11.0 Ethical considerations: 
 

11.1 
 

None. 

12.0 Internal/ External Consultation undertaken: 
 

12.1 
 

None. 
 

13.0 Background papers: 
 

13.1 
 

None. 
 

14.0 Key decision information: 
 

14.1 Is this a key decision? 
 

No 

14.2 If so, Forward Plan reference number: 
 

      

14.3 If a key decision, is the decision required in less than five days? 
 

N/A 

14.4 If yes, please describe the reason for urgency: 
 

Page 71



  
15.0 Call-in information: 

 
15.1 Are there any grounds for urgency, which would cause this decision to 

be exempt from the call-in process?  
 

 
No 

15.2 If yes, please give reason: 
 

  

TO BE COMPLETED BY THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC GOVERNANCE 
 

16.0 Scrutiny Committee Chairman (where appropriate): 
 

 Date informed: N/A      Date approved: 
 

N/A 

17.0 Declarations of interest (if applicable): 
 

17.1  
 

18.0 Executive decision: 
 

18.1  
 

18.2 Date of Decision:    
 

  
19.0 Reason(s) for decision: 

 
  
19.1 Date Decision published: 

 
  
20.0 Executive Members present:   

 
20.1  

 
21.0 Call-in:   

 
21.1  

 
22.0 Notes:   

 
22.1  
 

Page 72


	Agenda
	2 SCHOOL ORGANISATION PUPIL PLACE PLAN 2020-2028
	Appendix  2a  School Org Plan 2020-2028  v1.8 - final

	3 DEVELOPMENT OF A SOFT PLAY CENTRE AND CAFÉ FACILITY AT BLACKPOOL SPORTS CENTRE
	Appendix 3a Soft Play Centre and Cafe Facility FINAL 02-10-19

	4 CONFIRMATION OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION FOR RAIKES HALL CONSERVATION AREA
	Appendix 4a notice of Article 4
	Appendix 4b Summary of representations
	Appendix 4c Raikes Conservation Area A4L 030918

	5 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MONITORING AS AT MONTH 4 2019/20



